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REPORTS
TO THE READER

This month’s issue of the Journal is 
devoted to a discussion of the con
cepts of absolute and vicarious crim
inal liability of corporate officers for 
violations of the Federal Food, Drug, 
and Cosmetic Act. The statutory en
forcement mechanisms provided in the 
Act are seizure, injunction, and crim
inal prosecution. Thus, the concepts of 
absolute and vicarious liability—firmly 
established in 1943 by the Supreme 
Court in the United States v. Dotter- 
weich case—lie at the very heart of en
forcement of this statute which affects 
the health and well-being of all Ameri
cans.

In the Dotterweich case, the Court 
interpreted the intent of Congress in 
enacting the 1938 Federal Food, Drug, 
and Cosmetic Act as holding “respon
sible” corporate officials, including 
presidents or other senior officers, per
sonally criminally liable for violations 
of the Act though they had no wrong
ful intent and though they did not 
commit, authorize, or know of the acts 
which constituted the violations. The 
underlying rationale for this Congres
sional policy is that it provides the 
most effective means of assuring the 
highest possible standard of care in 
the manufacture and distribution of 
foods, drugs, and cosmetics.

Since 1943, the Government, and ul
timately various federal courts, have 
applied the doctrine in different factual 
situations of importance to all students 
of food, drug, and cosmetic law.

The discussion in this paper is par
ticularly timely now on the eve of 
Supreme Court review of United States 
v. Park in which the Fourth Circuit 
reversed the conviction of the presi

RE PO R T S TO T H E  READER

dent of a large food retailing corpora
tion for violations of the Act occurring 
in one of the company’s sixteen ware
houses. This is the first litigated and re
ported case where a senior officer of a 
large corporation was convicted under 
the doctrine.

The purpose of the article is to shed 
light on the nature and scope of the 
Dotterweich doctrine for the education 
and information of those affected by ft, 
and to place the doctrine into perspec
tive in order to foster informed discus
sion of it among representatives of gov
ernment, industry, academe, and con
sumers.

The authors set forth the legal limits 
to which the doctrine has been applied 
in litigated and reported cases since 
1943; provide insight into the policies 
employed by government in bringing 
cases under the doctrine as well as 
recent government actions; and pro
vide background and discussion of the 
basic policy pros and cons of the con
cept, including a discussion of the doc
trine in light of general criminal juris
prudence. A major appendix to the 
paper examines the enforcement mecha
nisms of twenty-seven federal statutes 
related to health or safety, thus ident
ifying enforcement alternatives to ab
solute and vicarious criminal liability 
and revealing 'Congressional trends in 
this area.

The paper will be helpful to prac
titioners by summarizing the current 
status of the doctrine at a time when 
the Court will again examine it. The 
opinion of the Court in the Park case, 
when rendered, will have more mean
ing to readers. The authors ask the 
Court for much needed guidance on the
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proper instructions under the D'otter- 
weich doctrine to be given to tryers 
of fact. The authors further suggest 
standards for the C ourt’s consideration 
in the application of the doctrine.

The paper will also be of interest 
to those concerned with the Congres
sional policy underlying the doctrine 
by bringing together relevant material 
for consideration of that policy. The 
discussion by the authors of the basic 
rationale of the doctrine and the ex
amination of countervailing arguments 
and alternatives is particularly helpful 
in this regard.

In a broader context, the examination 
in the paper of enforcement mecha
nisms employed by Congress in a va
riety of statutes will be helpful to  a 
consideration of proper enforcement 
mechanisms to apply in any given 
legislative proposal, particularly in the 
regulation of health and safety matters.

The Food and Drug Law Institute 
is a nonprofit educational organiza

tion whose objective is to improve 
understanding of the nature and scope 
of laws and regulations applicable to 
the food, drug, cosmetic and related 
industries. Among its activities, the 
Institute sponsors food and drug law 
courses at several leading law schools, 
provides a fellowship program to assist 
worthy students in pursuing graduate 
law studies, publishes a series of books 
on food and drug law, sponsors various 
conferences of interest to  those con
cerned with this area, and performs 
objective research on timely and im
portant issues involving food, drug, 
and cosmetic law.

This article was prepared as part 
of the Institute’s research efforts. I t 
was authored by Daniel F. O ’Keefe, 
Jr., President of The Food and Drug 
Law Institute and Marc H. Shapiro, 
a third year law student at the Uni
versity of Virginia, who was employed 
by the Institute to perform basic re
search on this subject.
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I. The D o tte rw e ic h  Doctrine

IN A 1943 F IV E -T O -F O U R  D E C IS IO N , the U nited S tates Su
prem e Court held a corporate president personally crim inally 

liable under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic A ct1 (herein
after referred to as “the A ct”) for introducing into interstate com
merce adulterated  and m isbranded drugs (1) even though there was 
no elem ent of conscious fraud or aw areness of w rongdoing on the 
president’s part, (2) even though the president did not commit the 
violative acts, and (3) even though the president neither knew of, 
nor authorized, the acts which constitu ted  a violation of law. The 
case was United States v. Dotterweich.2

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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The Dotterweich case arose with a crim inal prosecution under 
Section 303(a) of the Act against a corporation and an individual, 
its president and general m anager, on three counts—one for shipping 
an adulterated  drug and tw o for shipping a m isbranded drug, both 
in in terstate  commerce.3

T he alleged violations occurred when, in the course of its busi
ness, the defendant corporation, Buffalo Pharm acal Co., Inc., p u r
chased drugs from a wholesale m anufacturer and repackaged them 
for shipm ent to fill orders from out-of-state physicians. Two counts 
of violation of Section 502(a), which deems a drug or device m is
branded if its labeling is false or m isleading in any particular, were 
alleged. The first count charged that a drug was repackaged and 
shipped in in terstate  commerce under the corporation’s label as “1000 
T ablets Cascara Compound . . . (H inkle),’’ followed by a list of in
gredients, including strychnine sulphate. This particular ingredient, 
present in the tablets at issue, had been removed from the formula 
for the product stated in the N ational Form ulary .4

The second count under Section 502(a) charged th a t the label 
on a bottle of digitalis represented the potency of the product to 
be tw ice w hat it was in fact found to be. These assertions of fact 
formed the basis for a third count alleging an adulteration violation 
of Section 501(c) which states tha t a d rug is deemed adulterated if 
its strength  differs from that which it purports or is represented to 
possess.5

As for Dotterweich, the individual defendant, it was shown that 
while he had no personal connection with either shipm ent, he was 
nevertheless in general charge of the corporation’s business and had 
given general instructions to its employees, who did the actual re
packaging, to fill orders received from physicians.6 The plant consti
tu ted  a small operation with tw enty-six  employees, all on one floor.7

The ju ry  was instructed  by the D istrict Court for the W estern  
D istric t of New York as fo llow s:
“Are you satisfied from the evidence that shipment[s] were made under his 
supervision by him as ‘General M anager’? It is not necessary for the Govern
ment to prove that he personally and physically made the shipment himself. 
It is sufficient if the evidence establishes to your satisfaction that it was 
made under authority conferred by him as general manager upon his sub
ordinates. . .

The jury  verdict acquitted the corporation but found D o tte r
weich guilty  on all three counts. A fine of $500 on each count was

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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imposed, with payment suspended on the second and third counts. 
In addition, a sixty-day probation on each count, to run concurrently, 
was imposed.9

Appeal was taken to the Second Circuit in United States v. Buf
falo Pharmacal Co.,10 which reversed Dotterweich’s conviction on the 
technical grounds that he was not a “person” within the meaning 
of the Act.11

The Supreme Court, in a 5-4 decision, reversed the Court of Ap
peals and reinstated Dotterweich’s conviction.12 Holding Dotter- 
weich was a “person” within the meaning of the Act,13 justice 
Frankfurter, speaking for the majority, said:
“Such legislation [legislation like the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act ‘whereby 
penalties serve as effective means of regulation’] dispenses with the conven
tional requirement for criminal conduct—awareness of some wrongdoing. In 
the interest of the larger good it puts the burden of acting at hazard upon 
a person otherwise innocent but standing in responsible relation to a public 
danger. . . . And so it is clear that shipments like those now in issue are 
‘punished by the statute if the article is misbranded [or adulterated], and that 
the article may be misbranded [or adulterated] without any conscious fraud 
at all. It was natural enough to throw this risk on shippers with regard to 
the identity of their wares’. . . .”14

The burden of acting was thus placed on persons otherwise in
nocent but standing “in responsible relation to a public danger” 
and the occurrence of the prohibited act is sufficient, without any 
element of “awareness of wrongdoing,” to bring into play the crimi
nal sanctions of the statute insofar as a “responsible” party is concerned.

The Court went on to state:
“under § 301 a corporation may commit an offense and all persons who aid 
and abet its commission are equally guilty. W hether an accused shares re
sponsibility in the business process resulting in unlawful distribution depends 
on the evidence produced at the trial and its submission—assuming the evi
dence warrants it—to the jury under appropriate guidance. The offense is com
mitted, unless the enterprise which they are serving enjoys the immunity of 
a guaranty, by all who do have such a responsible share in the furtherance of 
the transaction which the statute outlaws. . . ,”15 (Emphasis added)

Thus, having found that the statute prohibits the introduction 
into commerce of misbranded or adulterated articles by a “person,” 
having found Dotterweich a “person” within the meaning of the 
Act, having found that the statute dispenses with the conventional 
requirement of awareness of some wrongdoing for criminal conduct, 
and the jury having found Dotterweich “responsible,” the Court up
held his conviction.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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“Hardship,” the Court said,
“there doubtless may be under a statute which thus penalizes the transaction 
though consciousness of wrongdoing be totally wanting. Balancing relative 
hardships, Congress has preferred to place it upon those who have at least 
the opportunity of informing themselves of the existence of conditions imposed 
for the protection of consumers before sharing in illicit commerce, rather 
than to throw  the hazard on the innocent public who are wholly helpless.”19

Commenting on the criteria for establishing which class of employees 
stand in a “responsible” relationship so as to be held so liable, the Court 
stated  th a t an a ttem pt to define such criteria would be “too treacher
ous,” no ting sim ply tha t such m atters m ust be en trusted  to “the good 
sense of prosecutors, the wise guidance of tria l judges, and the u lti
m ate judgm ent of juries. . . ,”17

Justice M urphy, in his dissent, sta ted :
“There is no evidence in this case of any personal guilt on the part of the 
respondent. There is no proof or claim that he ever knew of the introduction 
into commerce of the adulterated drugs in question, much less that he actively 
participated in their introduction. Guilt is imputed to the respondent solely 
on the basis of his authority and responsibility as president and general 
manager of the corporation.”18

Thus, the first principle set forth by the case was th a t the 
distribution of adulterated or m isbranded drugs in violation of the 
Federal Food, D rugr .and Cosmetic Act is a crime not requiring any 
conscious fraud or awareness of wrongdoing. The doing of the pro
hibited act is sufficient. T he concept of absolute liability was thus 
firmly established. The second principle set forth  in the case was th a t 
a corporate official m ay be held personally and crim inally liable if 
he has “a responsible share in the furtherance of the [violative] 
transaction . . .” even though he did not com m it the act or know 
of its commission. Thus, the concept of vicarious liability became 
established, holding a corporate official personally crim inally respon
sible in certain circum stances for the acts of his employees which he 
did not know of or authorize. Simply put, th a t is the Dotterweich 
Doctrine.

II. The Purpose of This Paper
T he Dotterweich case raises m any questions concerning the scope 

and m anner of its application. For example, does it apply to products 
other than drugs? Is it limited to violations involving public health and 
safety? F urther, the C ourt refused to define which classes of em 
ployees stand in a “responsible” relationship to  an illicit act. Is  it 
sufficient to show' th a t a defendant holds the title  of president of a

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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corporation? Is it sufficient to show tha t a president exercises general 
overall au thority  over the corporation? Is it necessary to show that 
a defendant bears some relationship to the specific operation or plant which 
causes the violative acts? Is it necessary to show that a defendant bears 
some relationship to the specific acts which resulted in violation? How 
has the governm ent sought to apply the doctrine?

Also, questions of public policy are raised. Are the concepts- of 
absolute and vicarious crim inal liability in the public in terest?  Are 
these concepts unique in our crim inal jurisprudence? W hat enforce
m ent m echanisms are employed in other federal health- and safety- 
related sta tu tes?

T he purpose of this paper is to shed light on the nature and 
scope of the Dotterweich D octrine for the education and inform ation 
of those affected by it, and to place the doctrine in perspective in 
order to foster informed discussion of it am ong representatives of 
governm ent, industry, academe, and consumers. W e will seek (1) 
to define the legal lim its to which the doctrine in fact has been ap
plied in litigated and reported cases since 1943 (including a discus
sion of the very recent case of United States v. Park,19 in which the 
F ourth  Circuit m ay have placed new lim its on the Dotterweich Doc
trine as it has been interpreted over the years) ; (2) to provide in
sight into the policies employed by the governm ent in bringing cases 
under the doctrine; (3) to provide insight into recent governm ent 
actions under the doctrine ; and (4) to provide background and a 
discussion of the basic policy pros and cons of the concepts of abso
lute and vicarious crim inal liability under the Act.

O ur purpose is not to take e ither “side” of the issue, bu t ra ther 
to set forth relevant analysis in order to foster informed discussion. 
Also, in our discussion, we will not inquire per se into questions of 
w hether the Court properly in terpreted  the in ten t of the Federal 
Food, D rug, and Cosmetic Act, or w hether the Court m ight now 
reexam ine the basic doctrine on constitutional or other grounds.198

III. Litigated and Reported Cases
Since 1943, when Dotterweich was decided, there have been be

fore the courts a series of situations in which the Dotterweich Doc
trine has been applied. A review of these cases is essential to under
stand the im pact the doctrine has today.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44— 49.
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In  this section we will examine individually, m ajor reported 
cases involving the doctrine, and then sum m arize the scope of the 
doctrine today as reflected in the reported cases. U nfortunately, in 
some cases—particularly  older ones where records no longer exist— 
inform ation which would be useful was unavailable.

A. Analysis of Cases

A case decided shortly  before Dotterweich, United States v. Green- 
baum,20 held a corporate president of a bakery crim inally liable for 
introducing in in terstate  commerce, cans of rotten eggs in violation 
of Section 402(a)(3 ), which provides th a t a food shall be deemed 
adulterated  “if it consists in whole or in part of any filthy, putrid , 
or decomposed substance, or if it is otherw ise unfit for food. . . 
D efendant moved to dismiss the inform ation and for a directed ver
dict on the grounds th a t the inform ation failed to charge a crim e in 
that it failed to allege that the defendant knew the eggs were rotten when 
he shipped them and since no proof of such knowledge was offered.

The T hird  Circuit upheld the conviction, finding th a t knowledge 
and wilfulness are not s ta tu to ry  elem ents of the crime, and in ter
preting the Act as not requiring knowledge, particularly  since Sec
tion 305,
“a preliminary requisite to prosecution, is designed to search out the possible 
innocent mind of the particular offender by establishing before trial, his good 
faith or the extent of his actual knowledge and wilfulness.”21

The defendant was sentenced to three m onths in prison and a 
fine of $300 was imposed. The extent of G reenbaum ’s actual partic i
pation in the acts or the business is not clear, but it is in teresting 
to note th a t in this case a defendant was sentenced to prison without 
proof of scienter.22

Subsequently, Dotterweich held tha t failure to provide a  Section 
305 hearing was not a s ta tu to ry  bar to prosecution in the factual 
situation there presented.23

In United States v. Parfait Powder Puff Co.,24 a corporate defen
dant was convicted for introducing into in tersta te  commerce, hair 
lacquer pads which contained a deleterious substance and therefore 
were adulterated  in violation of Section 601(a), under which a 
cosmetic is deemed adulterated  “if it bears or contains any poisonous 
or deleterious substance which m ay render it injurious to users.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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T he facts of the case show th a t the defendant company con
tracted  with a second com pany whereby the second company m anu
factured, packed and distributed the cosmetic to defendant’s cus
tomers, shipping it according to defendant’s instructions and under 
its label. W ithou t the defendant’s knowledge, the second company 
substitu ted  the deleterious substance. As soon as the defendant 
learned of the substitu tion, it forbade use of it.

D efendant's conviction was upheld, the court finding the de
fendant responsible for the acts of his delegate where the defendant 
is the m oving force in the introduction of the article into in terstate 
commerce on his behalf, w hether or not the defendant knew of 
the violation.

T he case suggests th a t a person can be held vicariously respon
sible for the acts of his delegate where the delegate fails to meet 
the legal requirem ents of the sta tu te  even though the person did not 
know of these acts. T he court sa id :
“The person who brings goods into commerce, by whatever means or imple
ments, is bound to see that the commodity thus put into commerce is not 
beyond the pale of the legislative act.”25

W hile the court uses the word “person,” and while this case 
frequently  has been cited for the proposition of absolute and vicarious 
liability under the Act, there was no individual defendant in this case.

In  Kordel v. United States,26 an individual defendant was found 
guilty  of a m isbranding violation under Section 502(a), prohibiting 
false and m isleading labeling, and Section 502(f), requiring ade
quate directions for use. T he defendant, who produced and m arketed 
health products, claimed to be an expert on nutrition. The alleged 
violation occurred when pam phlets he had w ritten, which he claimed 
were scientific publications, were shipped separately to the same 
consignee and destination to which the drugs had been shipped 
earlier. T he pam phlets contained statem ents concerning the efficacy 
of the products which were found to be false and m isleading. Con
tra ry  to  defendant’s claim th a t the pam phlets were merely scientific 
opinion,27 the governm ent argued th a t the pam phlets constituted 
labeling. T he Suprem e Court, in a 5-4 decision, agreed and affirmed 
the conviction, which fined defendants a to tal of $4,000.

In this case, while the defendant certainly was aw are of his 
conduct, he m ay have been unaw are th a t his conduct violated the 
law, believing the pam phlets more likely to be classified as scientific

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.

T h e  Dotterweich D oc tr in e P age 11



literature or perm issible advertising, ra ther than  “labeling” under 
the Act. However, it was not incum bent upon the governm ent to 
prove w rongful in ten t under the Dotterweich Doctrine.

T he case raises the question of the fairness of crim inal con
viction for conduct not clearly unlawful when the acts are com
m itted and where scientific judgm ents m ay differ.28 T he four dis
senting Justices appeared concerned about the first point,29 bu t the 
outcom e m ay have been colored by the facts of the case. As the 
Seventh C ircuit opinion sa id :
“All [government expert medical witnesses] were agreed that while the claims 
were absurd and fantastic, they were dangerous in that they tended to lull 
people into a false sense of security in reliance on the drugs when they might 
need professional diagnosis and treatment. . . .”30

Similarly, in United States v. Kaadt,31 defendants who ran a 
diabetic clinic were held crim inally liable for shipping a drug in 
in tersta te  commerce accompanied by certain printed m aterial which 
was determ ined to constitu te false and m isleading labeling in viola
tion of Section 502(a) by creating the im pression th a t the drug 
would be efficacious in the cure, m itigation and trea tm ent of dia
betes w hereas in fact it was not. The defendants argued th a t a t 
issue was an honest difference of medical opinion. However, the 
court found th a t there was sufficient com petent medical evidence 
for a ju ry  to decide tha t the labeling was false and misleading.

T he ju ry  had been instructed, according to the Seventh C ircuit’s 
opinion, t h a t :
“if they found that any or all of the defendants shared responsibility in con
ducting the business and that the operation of that business resulted in un
lawful distribution of misbranded drugs, the defendants who shared such 
responsibility might be found guilty. . . . [The jury] in determining whether 
the defendants did have a responsible share in the conduct of the business . . .  
must take into consideration the work that each defendant did at the Kaadt 
Diabetic Clinic or Institute, the duties and responsibilities of each, and the 
extent to which each controlled or directed the conduct of the business.”32

In short, while the extent of personal involvem ent of each of 
the defendants is unknown, the ju ry  was told th a t if a defendant 
shared responsibility for the conduct of the business, regardless of 
w hether he physically participated in the introduction of the mis
branded drugs into in terstate  commerce, he could be held liable.

Again, the result in this case of crim inal conviction and prison 
term s for defendants in a situation which m ight have been construed 
to constitu te honest differences of medical opinion probably was

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.

P age 12 F ood Drug Cosmetic L aw J ournal—J anuary, 1975



colored by the facts of the case. For, as the tria l judge said to de
fendants at sentencing:
“I am satisfied that for many years you have engaged on a wide scale in a 
sordid, an evil and a vicious enterprise without the slightest regard or con
sideration for the patients that consult you. . .

Also, he s a id :
“in their avarice and greed for wealth they wrongfully advised these trustful 
patients, and, as a result, they suffered permanent damage and injury, and 
some have gone to an early grave.”03

In a frequently ncted case. Golden Gram Macaroni Co. v. United 
States,3* the president of the corporation (also general manager of its 
p lant) was found personally crim inally liable although he was absent 
from the plant during the time the violation occurred. Here, m aca
roni perm eated with insect parts wras held to be adulterated. T he de
fendant was tried w'ithout a jury, found guilty  and fined $5,000. 
T he defendant argued th a t he could not be held responsible because 
he was absent from the plant during the period in which the food 
was shipped; because he was absent when the evidence was o b ta in ed ; 
and because he did everything w ithin his power to ensure th a t the 
factory would be in a sanitary  condition both before and during 
his absence. Defendant contended th a t he had issued instructions 
which, if carried out, would have prevented the insanitary  condi
tions.35 The N inth Circuit responded th a t some of the products 
were m anufactured and packed before he left, tha t insanitary  con
ditions had prevailed for a considerable length of tim e prior to 
his departure, and tha t he and the corporation had suffered a pre
vious conviction for like violations. I t should also be noted that, as 
general m anager, the defendant was in charge of the facility.

The court m ay have held him crim inally responsible by im put
ing knowledge :o him of the plant conditions. This theory of liability 
in this case is reinforced by the court statem ent th a t :
“it is unnecessary to rest decision in this respect on the settled rule appealed 
to by government counsel that the criminal responsibility of a corporate of
ficer having broad authority such as that possessed by this defendant does 
not depend upon his physical presence.”36

In United States v. H. Wool & Sons, Inc.,31 a corporation and 
its secretary were held crim inally liable for a m isbranding violation. 
The corporation, a wholesaler of dairy products, repackaged bu tter 
held for sale and falsely labeled it in violation of Section 301 (k) as 
w eighing one pound when in fact it weighed less.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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Defendants contended they had no knowledge of the out-of-sfate 
origin of the butter or that the repackaged butter was underweight. 
Citing Dotterweich, the court held that it was unnecessary to prove 
that defendants knew of these facts and affirmed the convictions of 
both the corporation and individual defendant.

Though the court did not specifically address the issue of the 
individual defendant’s “responsibility,” in another context it noted that:
“the dividing line between H erbert Wool and the Corporation was at best 
a shadowy one. The Company was a family-owned enterprise. . . . W ool’s 
testimony makes it quite apparent that he was the dominating factor in the 
enterprise and that he was intimately concerned in its affairs.”38

That intimate concern was more sharply brought into focus by 
the government brief before the Second Circuit which points out 
that the jury had found that Wool was the general manager and was 
responsible for all the activities of the corporation, specifically in
cluding the activities of the butter printing room where the butter 
was packaged and labeled. He also shared in the buying of the 
butter.39 While those facts do not directly show that he knew of 
the underweight state of the butter, the corporation had suffered 
previous fines for short weight. Wool was fined $1,000 and sentenced 
to six months in jail.40

In Wool, therefore, lack of knowledge of violation was again 
held irrelevant to criminal conviction of an individual; however, in 
this instance, the violation was clearly economic, affecting the con
sumer by shortchanging his pocketbook, but representing no health 
or safety hazard—and the defendant was sentenced to jail. While 
the “responsibility” of the individual defendant was not discussed 
by the court in the context of this paper, it was reasonably clear that Wool 
was fairly close to the situation resulting in the misbranding.

In United States v. Diamond State Poultry Co.,41 a corporation and 
its two major officers were convicted of introducing into inter
state commerce chicken found to be decomposed and diseased and 
therefore adulterated in violation of Section 402. Each individual was given 
a three-year probation and the corporation was fined $1,000.42

In response to the individual defendants’ contention that they did 
not aid and abet and were not criminally responsible for the ship
ments, the trial court noted that:
“Evidence is clear defendants Howard and David Polin were responsible for. 
the operation of . . . [the corporation. Defendant David Polin stated at a 
Section 305 hearing that] he had instructed his employees to be careful in

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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grading poultry and on occasions opened crates to see if his instructions 
were followed. Defendant Howard Polin stated he periodically checked condi
tion of shipped poultry. . . . [The individual] defendants made policy for de
fendant . . . [corporation]. Individual defendants were the two major officers 
of the corporate defendant. . . .”43

Citing Dotterweich, Greenbaum and Parjait Powder Puff,  the court 
further stated:
"Under the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, proof of personal participation 
of an individual defendant is not required to establish guilt if the individual 
is the responsible person for the operation of the business out of which the 
violation grows.”44

While the court cites as the rule of law that the person respon
sible for the operation of the business can be held liable, the facts 
of the case clearly indicate that the individual defendants, while they 
may not have personally inspected the chickens in question, did in
spect chickens on occasion and were otherwise intimately involved 
with the operations. Another interesting point in the case is that one 
of the individual defendants contended that he instructed his em
ployees to be careful in grading poultry and, on occasion, opened 
crates to see if his instructions were followed. This contention of 
“due care” on behalf of defendants was not discussed by the court. 
It is not clear whether the court was unconvinced of the facts or 
rejected the argument as irrelevant.

In the most recent affirmation by the Supreme Court that a 
violation can occur without a wrongful intent, United States v. Wiesen- 
feld Warehouse Co.,45 the Court reversed a District Court dismissal 
of a criminal information. The Supreme Court ruled that a public 
storage warehousing company, if it held food under insanitary condi
tions between interstate shipment and ultimate sale, could violate 
Section 301 (k) which prohibits the doing of any act with respect to 
a food held for sale after interstate shipment which results in such 
article being adulterated or misbranded.

While there was no individual defendant in the case, the matter 
of criminal intent was discussed. The Court stated that:
“It is settled law in the area of food and drug regulation that a guilty intent 
is not always a prerequisite to the imposition of criminal sanctions. Food 
and drug legislation, concerned as it is with protecting the lives and 
health of human beings, under circumstances in which they might be unable 
to protect themselves, often ‘dispenses with the conventional requirement for 
criminal conduct—awareness of some wrongdoing. . . .’ ”4S (Emphasis added)

The use of the emphasized words by the Court may indicate a 
concern about the concepts of absolute and vicarious liability, at least
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permitting consideration of a defense of due care. In this regard, 
Justice Stewart’s suggestion in his opinion is most interesting:
“It is argued . . . that the Government in this ease is seeking to impose crimi
nal sanctions upon one ‘who is, by the very nature of his business, powerless’ 
to protect against this kind of contamination, however high the standard of 
care exercised. W hatever the truth of this claim, it involves factual proof to 
be raised defensively at a trial on the merits.”47

While a possible defense of due care has not evolved into a 
legal doctrine, it may become such and the argument may well have 
some practical effect also. For example, if at a preliminary Section 
305 hearing, an individual can show (1) an appropriately high stan
dard of care and (2) facts and circumstances that made the viola
tion impossible or difficult to avoid, it is possible that an administra
tive decision not to prosecute would be made by the Food and Drug 
Administration (hereinafter FDA) or the Department of Justice.

In United States v. Shapiro,48 the Sixth Circuit affirmed the Dis
trict Court’s revocation of defendant’s probation and the imposition 
of a six-month sentence. The defendant, owner of a cookie factory, 
had earlier pled guilty to a violation of Section 301(a) and (k) and 
had received a fine and a two-year sentence probated on the condi
tion that he conduct his food handling in accordance with the Federal 
Food, Drug, and Cosmfetic Act. A subsequent FDA inspection of the 
premises found them to be in noncompliance with FDA regulations 
in that they were accessible to, and infested with, vermin. As a re
sult, the revocation of probation and sentencing followed.

The defendant argued that he was no longer a responsible officer 
of the company. Before the inspection, the defendant had entered 
into a formal agreement to sell the business to a third party, although 
the final closing did not occur until three days after the inspection. 
The agreement gave the “operations and management” to the third 
party approximately two weeks before the inspection. Thus, the 
defendant argued, equitable title, and therefore responsibility, had 
passed from him before the FDA inspection.

In rejecting this argument, the Sixth Circuit noted that Shapiro 
had made several visits to the plant after the “operations and manage
ment” agreement and had adequate opportunity to observe the condi
tions. The court also noted that the results of the FDA inspection 
showed a continuing lack of interest in plant sanitation. The court said:
“Here Shapiro held the same corporate title on the date of the inspection 
that he held on the date he entered the guilty pleas to violating the Act. D ur
ing that period his ownership of the corporate assets actually increased from
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50% to 100%. In his capacity as president of the company and owner of all 
the assets, Shapiro had the power and authority to devise whatever measures 
were necessary to assure compliance with the FDA regulations. There was 
no need for him to continue producing cookies under unsanitary conditions. 
He could have shut down the plant until the company was sold and new 
ownership could assume complete and unobstructed control. He could have 
required Red River [the third party] . . .  to assure that adulterated food 
products from the Tasty plant would not be made available to the consumer. 
Or he could have completely and adequately cleaned the plant. It is clear that 
appellant failed to implement adequate safeguards at any time.”**

This case represents another affirmation of the principle that 
neither physical presence nor personal participation is necessary for 
a finding of criminal responsibility under the Act. The case also sug
gests the principle that in some situations a man divested of control 
might still be held responsible.

Finally, there is the case of United States v. H. B. Gregory Co.,50 
where a bakery supply warehouse which supplied ingredients to 
bakeries throughout Milwaukee was found to have a rodent prob
lem whereby food became adulterated in violation of Section 301 (k). 
Generally, the adulteration allegedly occurred when rodent excreta 
pellets and urine stains were found in and around the food.

The individual defendant, James H. Gregory, president and 
treasurer of the firm, told the FDA inspector that he was in charge 
of the sanitation program and, specifically, of the rodent control 
program in the warehouse, and that he was there on a daily basis. 
The Seventh Circuit affirmed the trial court, which had fined Greg
ory $500 on each of four counts.

Finding that Gregory “had personal responsibility for all opera
tions of the warehouse,” the Court of Appeals said:
“Mr. Gregory was a person in a position of sufficient authority and responsi
bility in the conduct of the business . . .  to be held personally and strictly 
liable for violations of the Act committed in the course of such corporate 
business.”51

The court further stated:
“Mr. Gregory seeks to undermine the D o tte r w e ic h  standards and cites cer
tain state court cases and scholarly writings challenging the lack of a s c ie n te r  
requirement in criminal cases, and here in particular because the standard fails 
to require a c a u sa l r e la t io n  between the individual and the violation of the Act. 
(Emphasis added).”5*

The court concluded:
“If the Supreme 'Court standards of individual criminal liability announced in 
B a ltn t, D o t te r w e ic h , and W ie s e n je ld  W a r e h o u se , su p ra , are to be set aside, we 
shall defer to the Court’s collective wisdom in that area. W e shall not under
take to overrule the Supreme Court.”5*

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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Thus, as recently as March of 1974 when the Gregory case was 
decided, a Court of Appeals followed Dotterweich, but again in a coo- 
text where the individual defendant apparently was close to the opera
tion in which the violation occurred.

B. Summary of Case Analysis
Dotterweich made it crystal clear that drug manufacturers are 

to be held responsible for the integrity of their products under a 
statute which punishes the act of introducing, or delivering for 
introduction into interstate commerce, a misbranded or adulterated 
drug. The burden is placed on the manufacturer and conscious fraud 
or awareness of wrongdoing are not relevant to criminal conviction 
where a prohibited act occurs. Thus, the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act imposes an absolute liability upon drug manufacturers.

Also, Dotterweich made it clear that “responsible” corporate of
ficials could be criminally convicted under the Act even though they 
did not commit, know of, or authorize the commission of the viola
tive act. Thus, the Act also imposes a vicarious liability upon “re
sponsible” persons for acts committed by others.

Since 1943 when Dotterweich was decided, individual defendants 
have been criminally convicted and the concepts of both absolute 
and vicarious liability have been applied in cases charging violations 
not only of the sections of the Act relating to drugs,54 but also to 
sections relating to foods.55 The doctrine also has been followed in 
a criminal case involving cosmetics, although no individual defendant 
was a party in that case.56 And, while most cases have involved 
charges of misbranding or adulteration related to public health or 
safety, at least one case involved solely economic misbranding— 
short-weighted butter—bearing no health or safety risk to the pub
lic.57 Theoretically, at least, it appears that both facets of the doctrine 
apply to any violation of the Act.

The doctrine has been applied.not only to those manufacturing 
and distributing products, as in Dotterweich, but also to wholesalers,58 
retailers,59 and warehouse operators.60 The doctrine has been ap
plied not only to corporate officers, but also to partners.61 Thus, it 
appears that any “responsible” person under the Act is subject to 
absolute and vicarious liability.

Jail sentences,62 terms of probation,63 and criminal fines have 
been imposed,64 all without the necessity of proof of scienter, and in
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situations where persons other than the convicted defendant per
formed the violative acts. In one case, a jail sentence was imposed 
although the offense charged related to economic misbranding, with
out risk to public health or safety.85 In another case, the court ruled 
that intent was not a necessary element, even for conviction of a 
felony under the Act.66

It should be noted, however, that jail sentences have been rela
tively rare and fines levied generally have been small in amount. It 
should also be noted that, in many cases, there were facts presented 
as to the personal culpability of the defendant which may have in
fluenced trial judges and juries, although as a matter of law, aware
ness of wrongdoing was not necessary to prove. Thus the doctrine 
has come to affect those cases where the individual may have been 
personally knowledgeable and culpable, for even in those instances 
there has been no burden of proof on the government, thus mak
ing the task of prosecution easier.

The Kaadt case applied the doctrine, and individuals were sen
tenced to prison, in a situation where the acts resulting in violation 
were not clearly violative of law at the time of their commission 
and where there might be an argument of honest difference of 
scientific judgment. However, the facts of the case could well have 
affected the result.

It also has been held that failure to hold a Section 305 hearing 
is not a statutory bar to prosecution.67

Thus, the legal limits of the doctrine are quite broad in spite 
of the recent Supreme Court dictum in IViesenfeld Warehouse indi
cating that the Court might consider a defense of due care.

The most difficult concept to define is the question of the test of 
“responsibility” and its application. The test set forth in Dotterweich is 
that the offense is committed by “all persons who aid and abet its 
commission,” by all who share “responsibility in the business process 
resulting in unlawful distribution,” and “by all who do have such a 
responsible share in the furtherance of the transaction which the 
statute outlaws.”

An individual need not have any criminal intent, need not per
sonally commit a violative act, or know of it, or be physically present 
in order to be held liable, if he is “responsible” under the Dotter
weich test.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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There are some dicta to the effect that a corporate president 
may be held absolutely and vicariously liable solely on the basis of 
his general authority and responsibility as president for the over
all operation and conduct of the business. For example, Justice Mur
phy’s dissenting opinion in Dotterweich said: “guilt is imputed to . . .  
[Dotterweich] solely on the basis of his authority and responsibility 
as president and general manager of the corporation.”88 And, the 
District Court in Diamond State Poultry Co., said that “proof of per
sonal participation of an individual defendant is not required to 
establish guilt if the individual is the responsible person for the opera
tion of the business out of which the violation grows.” (Emphasis 
added.)69 Also, in Gregory, the Seventh Circuit said that the individual 
defendant “was a person in a position of sufficient authority and respon
sibility in the conduct of the business . . .  to be held personally and strictly 
liable. . . .” (Emphasis added.)70

However, the factual situations in the cases do not go that far. 
In all cases analyzed thus far for which we have sufficient facts, 
convicted individual defendants have always in fact had a closer 
connection to the operation in which the violation occurred than 
the mere holding of the title of president or possession of the gen
eral authority for the general conduct of the business. The facts in 
these cases do not suggest that defendants must actually perform 
a violative act or be present during its commission. However, close 
and immediate supervisory control by the defendant over the operation 
in which the violative act occurred has always been present when indi
viduals have been held vicariously liable. It would seem, from the cases 
discussed thus far, that small businessmen run a particularly high 
risk since they generally are involved in plant operations, in addition 
to their overall responsibilities.

No cases have involved officers of large corporations who may 
be somewhat remote from the operations which resulted in viola
tion, which brings us to the recent Park decision.

IV. The P a rk  Decision
In November and December of 1971, an FDA inspection was 

made of the Baltimore warehouse of Acme Markets, Inc., of which 
John R. Park is president. The inspections uncovered evidence of 
rodent infestation of food, allegedly constituting a violation of Sec
tion 301 (k), which prohibits the doing of any act with respect to a 
food held for sale after shipment in interstate commerce which
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results in such article being misbranded or adulterated. In late 
January of 1972, following the inspections, FDA wrote Park a letter 
advising him of conditions in the Baltimore warehouse. Park testi
fied that he had read the letter, had been informed by his general 
counsel that the latter had discussed the matter with the Baltimore 
Divisional Vice President, and that that officer was investigating and 
would take corrective action. A subsequent inspection in March of 
1972 revealed allegedly similar conditions to those found in the 1971 
inspections. An informal Section 305 hearing was held in June of 
1972 at FDA’s Baltimore office. Park was invited but did not attend. 
He was represented by the Baltimore Divisional Vice President.

In March, 1973, a five-count information was filed against the 
corporation and Park as an individual defendant. While the cor
poration pleaded guilty, Park did not, and, at jury trial he was 
found guilty on all counts and fined a total of $250.

Park successfully appealed to the Fourth Circuit71 on two grounds:
(1) the trial court erred in its instructions to the jury, and (2) 
prejudicial evidence of a warning of alleged prior violations in a 
Philadelphia warehouse which were never prosecuted was improperly ad
mitted. The Fourth Circuit reversed on both grounds. In a 2-1 decision, 
the court found that the jury charge did not correctly state the law of 
the case, reversed the conviction, and ordered a new trial.

The court concluded that Dotterweich cannot be read as predicat
ing conviction “solely upon a showing that the defendant, Park, was 
the President of the offending corporation.”72 True, the court con
cluded, Dotterweich dispensed with “awareness of wrongdoing” as an 
element in conviction, but it did not dispense with the need to 
prove “wrongful action,” which the Fourth Circuit defined as “acts 
of the accused which cause the adulteration of such food.” (Emphasis 
in original.)73 Those acts “may be gross negligence and inattention 
in discharging his corporate duties and obligations or any of a host 
of other acts of commission or omission which would ‘cause’ the 
contamination of the food.”74 The court further said that it must 
be proved that the defendant “was in some way personally respon
sible for the act constituting the crime,” that he “participated direct
ly or constructively therein” or that he was involved in a criminal 
conspiracy.76 It is the defendant’s relation to the criminal acts, not 
merely his relation to the corporation which the jury must consider, 
the court said.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49. 
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Thus the jury charge involved here was found improper. The 
Fourth Circuit described the jury instruction in this way:
“The court charged the jury that the sole question was ‘whether the Defen
dant 'held a position of authority and responsibility in the business of Acme 
Markets,’ that Park could be found guilty ‘even if he did not consciously do 
wrong1 and even though he had not ‘personally participated in the situation’ 
if it were proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Park ‘had a responsible re
lation to the situation.’ ””

The Fourth Circuit felt the instruction was improper, conclud
ing as follows:
“In sum, the court told the jury that Park would be guilty if it were shown 
that he ‘had a position of authority and responsibility in the situation out of 
which these charges arose.’ This instruction, taken in combination with the 
other parts of the charge related above, might well have left the jury with 
the erroneous impression that Park could be found guilty in the absence of 
‘wrongful action’ on his part.”77

The Fourth Circuit clearly was impressed with the fact that 
Park is the chief executive officer of a multistate corporate giant, 
with only indirect supervisory responsibility over most of the com
pany’s employees.78 He maintained his office in Philadelphia (not 
Baltimore where the alleged violations occurred), and “was theo
retically in charge of approximately 36,000 employees in 874 retail 
outlets, 12 main warehouses and 4 special warehouses located on 
the east and west coasts of the United States.”79

This factual setting was contrasted with Dotterweich where the 
defendant was responsible for 26 employees, all of whom worked on 
one floor of one building, where the defendant was responsible for 
general overseeing of the company operations and was the direct 
supervisor of all employees, and where he had direct personal super
visory responsibility over the physical acts which resulted in violations.80

The court stated “there is no allegation or proof that Park was 
responsible for the executive decisions which resulted in contamina
tion of the food. The facts of Dotterweich established the personal 
responsibility which we find lacking in the case before us.”81 “To 
hold Park criminally liable,” the court said, “for the wrongful ac
tions of each and every one of these employees by merely showing 
his position with the corporation is manifestly unjust, unfair and 
beyond the realm of reasonableness.”82 (Emphasis in original.)

Circuit Judge Craven, in a dissenting opinion, argued that the 
instruction to the jury was proper, and that there was no attempt 
to equate presidency of the corporation with responsibility, stating 
that the trial judge
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“made it perfectly clear to the jury that ‘the fact that the Defendant is 
present and is a chief executive officer of the Acme Markets does not require 
a finding of guilt. Though he need not have personally participated in the 
situation, he must have had a responsible relationship to the issue. The issue 
is, in this case, whether the defendant, John R. Park, by virtue of his posi
tion in the company, had a position of authority and responsibility in the 
situation out of which these charges arose.’ ”83

Judge Craven went on to note that the defendant had “conceded” 
that he had a responsibility to change the system of sanitation if it 
didn’t work and that he had received a letter from the Food and 
Drug Administration in 1970 outlining insanitary conditions an in
spection team had found in the Philadelphia warehouse. (The crimi
nal information concerned conditions in 1972 in a Baltimore ware
house.) Expressing his sympathy for his fellow judges’ “sense of 
justice” in wanting to invite into the statute “some small degree of 
mens rea,” he also stated that he shared the government fear that 
the decision of the court would undermine the Congressional purpose 
of placing the burden “upon those who have at least the opportunity 
of informing themselves of the existence of” wrongful conditions, 
rather than “on the innocent public who are wholly helpless” to 
protect themselves from contaminated food.

Under the Supreme Court’s interpretation cf the Federal Food, 
Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the public is to be protected from adul
terated and misbranded products, and “responsible” officials—within 
the meaning of Dotterweich—are held absolutely and vicariously 
criminally liable. The Supreme Court in 1943 refused to define the 
variety of conduct whereby persons may be held “responsible,” leav
ing such matters to the “good sense of prosecutors, the wise guidance 
of trial judges, and the ultimate judgment of juries.”84

Since 1943, various courts have dealt with the issue and, thus 
far, individuals have been convicted only where close and immediate 
supervisory control over the plant or operation in which the acts 
occurred has been present. There are dicta that may go beyond 
that point, as noted before.85 However, if the Dotterweich Doctrine 
is to be extended beyond the factual situations where conviction 
has resulted, surely Supreme Court guidance is indicated.

The criteria for holding persons “responsible” have been less 
than clear. The Park case at least demonstrates the need for Supreme 
Court guidance on the proper instructions for juries in this type of 
case. Jury instructions brought to light in this paper have been vague
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on the necessary relationship of the defendant to the business opera
tions or the violative acts. Juries have been variously instructed:
“Are you satisfied from the evidence that shipmentfs] were made under his 
supervision by him as ‘General Manager’? It is not necessary for the Govern
ment to prove that he personally and physically made the shipment himself. 
It is sufficient if the evidence establishes to your satisfaction that it was made 
under authority conferred by him as general manager upon his subordi
nates. . . .”88 (from D o tte r w e ic h )

And,
“if . . . any or all of the defendants shared responsibility in conducting the 
business and that the operation of that business resulted in unlawful distribu
tion . . . ,  the defendants who shared such responsibility might be found guilty.. . .  
In determining whether the defendants did have a responsible share in the 
conduct of the business . . . [the jury] must take into consideration the work 
that each defendant did at the Kaadt Diabetic Clinic or Institute, the duties 
and responsibilities of each, and the extent to which each controlled or directed 
the conduct of the business.”87 (from K a a d t )

And, in the instant case, the jury was instructed that
“the fact that Park is present and is a chief executive officer of Acme Markets 
does not require a finding of guilt. Though he need not have personally par
ticipated in the situation, 'he must have had a responsible relationship to the 
issue. The issue is, in this case, whether the defendant, John R. Park, by 
virtue of his position in the company, had a position of authority and respon
sibility in the situation out of which these charges arose.”88 (from P a r k )

The Park case presents the issue foursquare—need the govern
ment prove, in order to convict, more than the fact that the defen
dant is the president of the offending corporation or otherwise in 
general charge of all its affairs? If so, does the government have 
to prove a relationship between the defendant and the specific viola
tive acts? And, if not to the acts, then to the specific operation or 
plant in which the acts occurred? And what is the nature of the 
“relationship”? Need the defendant “cause” the adulteration in some 
way, as the Fourth Circuit suggests?

In short, how far does vicarious liability go? Who has, and 
under what conditions does he have, “a responsible share in the 
furtherance of the transaction which the statute outlaws”? When 
does he “aid and abet” in the commission of the violative acts? 
When does he share “responsibility in the business process resulting 
in unlawful distribution” ?

Sufficient time has elapsed since 1943, sufficient cases have been 
before the courts, and there is sufficient confusion on the point to 
warrant Supreme Court guidance. Hopefully, such guidance will be 
forthcoming from the Court, which has granted certiorari in the 
Park case.
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V. Government Enforcement Policy 
and Procedures

In this section we will attempt to provide the reader with some 
insight into Government policy and procedures in enforcing the Act, 
with particular emphasis on decisions to prosecute individuals. Since 
the U. S. Attorneys’ offices litigate food and drug matters on behalf 
of the government, an examination of policies and procedures neces
sarily must include not only those of the FDA, but also those of 
the Department of Justice and the U. S. Attorneys. We have sought 
to identify written policies of both agencies, and have supplemented 
those materials with conversations with government officials.89

The enforcement process usually begins with an inspection by 
an FDA field office investigator of the regulated facility, collection 
of samples, if any, and preparation of the investigator’s report. 
This report is reviewed by a supervisory investigator in the field 
office and, if he concludes the situation warrants it, the report is 
forwarded through the Chief of the Investigations Branch to the 
Chief of the Compliance Branch. The Compliance Branch reviews the evi
dence and, if warranted, recommends legal or administrative action.

Whenever a District concludes that a warning letter is preferred 
in lieu of legal sanctions, a draft is prepared and submitted to the 
appropriate bureau for review. The purpose of the warning letter 
is to serve as a formal legal notice to firms and individuals of al
legedly violative conditions and to provide the recipients an oppor
tunity to act voluntarily. FDA hopes the letter will achieve prompt 
compliance with the Act in most instances. Follow-up inspections are 
often made to be sure the allegedly violative situation has been cor
rected in timely fashion. If not, further action, including the possi
bilities of seizure, injunction, and criminal prosecution, may be initiated.

In cases of imminent hazard to health, filthy conditions, or 
other extraordinarily serious matter, the warning letter may be by
passed and legal proceedings may be instituted instead.

In general, therefore, FDA policy provides for a “warning” to 
potential defendants and an opportunity to comply voluntarily. This 
has been described as “giving one bite at the apple.”

While FDA policy provides for a “warning,” it is silent as to 
the consequences of receiving such a warning. For example, a warning 
letter identifies specific violations alleged to have occurred in a
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specific facility on a specific date. Is that letter intended to put 
the addressee “on notice,” for possible criminal prosecution purposes, 
that he may be prosecuted for any violation of the Act in any facility 
of his company from that point of time into the indefinite future— 
without further warning? This is simply not clear from existing policy.

In practice, of course, decisions to prosecute or take other action, 
are matters of judgment based on a particular set of facts. For 
example, if a subsequent inspection one year after an alleged viola
tion was discovered showed the same violation in the same facility, 
the first warning may be deemed sufficient to recommend criminal 
prosecution. On the other hand, an inspection nine months after the 
first inspection which reveals a different violation in a different plant might 
warrant another letter rather than prosecution or other legal action.

While there are no published guidelines dealing with such matters, 
it should also be borne in mind that the regulatory letter procedure 
is not statutorily required before prosecution.

Decisions to prosecute always pass through several stages. Af
ter a Section 305 hearing, every recommendation for prosecution 
must be approved by the Regional and Deputy Regional Food and 
Drug Directors, the Compliance Division, the Director of the ap
propriate FDA Bureau in Rockville, Maryland headquarters, the 
Regulatory Management Staff of the Office of the Associate Com
missioner for Compliance, and the Assistant General Counsel, Food 
and Drug Division, U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

If a decision is made to prosecute, a letter is sent to the ap
propriate U. S. Attorney and the Department of Justice recommend
ing prosecution. Either the Department of Justice or the U. S. At
torney may decline to prosecute.

While there are no written criteria defining “responsible per
sons,” the documents reviewed are required to discuss :

“a) the extent to which each individual defendant personal
ly participated in the violations charged,

b) the nature of the individual’s position in the business,
c) his duties and responsibilities in such position.
d) facts, if any, showing that the individual knew or should 

have known the requirements of the law.”90
Also, field investigators are instructed to look for evidence of 

responsibility for various major functions, such as sanitation and 
product quality control, who gives orders to clean the facility, who
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can stop and start operations and the like.91 The investigators are 
told that “the identification of those responsible for violations is just 
as important as determining how violations occurred.’’92

In addition, before FDA recommends prosecution, it generally 
requires that (1) at least one responsible individual be identified and 
included in the prosecution, (2) there is substantial evidence to show 
that all individuals included in the prosecution had authority to cor
rect the violative conditions, and (3) there is background which 
shows warning by inspection, letter, citation, prosecution, or other 
means of the firm and all individuals included in the prosecution, 
which warning issued prior to the last inspection on which the 
prosecution is based.93

The above summarizes the current FDA policy regarding criminal 
prosecution and enforcement. At the present time, FDA is working 
on a revised version of the Regulatory Procedures Manual. It should 
be noted that, in practice, FDA officials recognized the possibility of 
some unevenness of application, and it is for this reason that the 
Agency has provided for the multiple review of cases to assure as 
much fairness and uniformity of action as possible.

It is interesting to note, as we were informed, that the FDA 
General Counsel’s Office considered about 100 requests for criminal 
prosecution in 1973 and forwarded about 90 of these to U. S. At
torneys. We were further informed that, generally, the reasons for 
not forwarding cases were lack of prior warning, failure of substan
tive proof, or failure to establish responsibility of individuals.

Justice Department officials informed us that they generally do 
not intervene to decline prosecutions recommended by FDA directly to 
U. S. Attorneys, and, to the best of the official’s recollection, no inter
vention has occurred in the last year or so.94

U. S. Attorneys remain free to decline to prosecute despite FDA 
recommendations based upon local prosecutorial policy. In his ex
tensive study on prosecutorial discretion in agency criminal refer
rals, Robert Rabin concludes that U. S. Attorneys decline to prose
cute 10% of the cases referred by FDA. This is as low a refusal rate 
as he finds for any agency, and substantially lower than many.93

Rabin concludes:
“In sum, the Justice Department has no effective system of checking and re
viewing the discretionary decisions of U. S. Attorneys regarding whether to 
prosecute.”88
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In testimony in 1972 before a House Subcommittee, the FDA 
General Counsel testified that the Department of Justice or U. S. 
Attorneys declined or dismissed cases or individual defendants over 
the objection of FDA in about one-third of all FDA criminal cases 
over the previous five years.97

Rabin identifies some eight reasons which help explain refusals 
to prosecute. They are:

“1. case-load consideration;
2. magnitude of the violation;
3. court-perceived criminality of the offense;
4. special characteristics of the defendant;
5. existence of alternative sanctions;
6. adequacy of the case;
7. equality of treatment of regulated parties;
8. special-interest influences.”98

The Food and Drug Administration, aware of how the U. S. 
Attorneys might react, may shape its enforcement policy accordingly. 
Rabin says:
“the enforcement policies of the SEC and FDA are shaped by the agencies’ 
prediction of the prosecutor’s response to the existence of alternative reme
dies. Both the SEC and FDA have powerful civil remedies that can be in
voked in appropriate cases. Where a plant inspection by the FDA uncovers 
a series of violations, the agency is empowered to seize the merchandise in
volved. Or, the still softer remedy of warnings and publicity may be invoked. 
Only the case of the repeated offender will normally be referred to the U. S. 
Attorney. The SBC has a similar range of enforcement tools at hand, includ
ing publicity, injunction and a civil damage action, as well as criminal penal
ties. Only repeated offenses or egregious violations trigger resort to the 
criminal sanctions.
A consistent theme here is that repeated violators are prosecuted for acts 
which are handled in a noncriminal fashion where a first or infrequent of
fender is concerned.”00

The above statement also helps explain the FDA’s statements 
about its policy of giving individuals “one bite at the apple.”

VI. Unreported Cases
In order to evaluate the application of the FDA policy, we had 

hoped to examine all criminal prosecutions brought over a number 
of years. However, we found that in the last five years there have 
been a total of 352 criminal prosecutions.100 Such a large number 
made it impossible to examine each one. Therefore, we focused only
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on closed cases for the year 1973. There were, at the time of our 
review, 67 cases filed in 1973 that have since been closed. From 
these we randomly chose 20 to provide a sample. With the obvious 
caveat that the size of our sample was very limited, we are able 
to make a few generalizations.

The most noteworthy fact that arose was that all but one case 
examined were food sanitation cases involving adulteration under 
Sections 402(a) (3) or 402(a) (4), or both. This concentration of prose
cutions involving food was also reflected by the FDA Annual Reports 
for the last five years which showed that food cases constituted 81.3% 
of all criminal prosecutions by FDA.101

FDA officials explained that the concentration in food sanita
tion, at least since 1972, is a result of a General Accounting Office 
audit report to Congress on April 18, 1972, which alleged that sani
tary conditions in the food industry had deteriorated. As a result, 
FDA enforcement activity in this area was increased. Hoping to 
bring about self-correction on the part of industry, Mr. Sam Fine, 
FDA Associate Commissioner for Compliance, sent a letter to the 
trade associations of the involved industries on May 18, 1972, warning 
of increased enforcement in the area. Feeling this letter had received 
insufficient response, Mr. Fine, on August 30, 1972, sent a letter to 
the presidents of a number of food chains giving the same warning 
and stating:
“We regard ycu as the person who ultimately has the authority to order cor
rection of such conditions, and thus who ultimately must bear the responsibility 
for any failure to correct them. Should it become necessary to bring criminal 
action to prevent a continuation of violative conditions, therefore, we wish 
you to understand that you and other high corporate officials in your organi
zation who are specifically responsible for sanitation practices will be held 
accountable.”102

This helps explain the heavy concentration of prosecutions in the 
food area and sheds some light on who FDA considers a responsible 
individual. It may also help to explain the decision to file the Park case.

In other respects the review of the twenty cases revealed no im
portant deviations from the enforcement policy of the Agency. Al
most invariably, the president of the corporation or owner of the 
business was charged. In most instances, he was the individual in
volved in the day-to-day operation and management of the business 
and the one who had the authority to institute necessary changes. 
If the president of the corporation was not actively involved in its 
affairs, another more directly responsible corporate officer would be
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charged instead. Most of the firms had a history of prior sanitation 
problems. In every case some form of warning and follow-up inspec
tion was provided. Section 305 hearings were held as a matter of 
course. We found no cases where a term of imprisonment had been 
imposed. Guilty pleas were the rule. Indeed, given the warnings and 
subsequent acts of omission in a number of instances, it could be 
said there were both awareness of wrongdoing and wrongful action 
on the part of individuals prosecuted in these cases. Of course, 
whether such knowledge and wrongful action could meet the stan
dards of legal proof of intent imposed in most criminal prosecutions 
remains another matter. At any rate, however, those elements were 
not wholly lacking.

Thus, routine application of the Dotterweich Doctrine by the govern
ment—based on our limited sample and the limited information with re
gard to unreported cases which we were able to obtain—does not raise 
serious questions about administrative abuse.

VII. Policy Considerations
Having concluded our discussion of the legal limits to which the 

Dotterweich Doctrine has in fact been applied, and having touched on 
the practical application of the doctrine by the relevant governmental 
agencies, we will now turn our attention to a review of the policy con
siderations and implications of the concepts of absolute and vicarious 
criminal liability.

In order to provide a more complete framework for consideration 
of the policy issues, it will be helpful to know something of how the 
doctrine relates to general criminal jurisprudence, as well as the enforce
ment mechanisms provided in other federal health and safety re
lated statutes.

A. D o tte rw e ic h  and General Criminal Jurisprudence
Our purpose here is not to engage in a lengthy dissertation on crimi

nal law and the many complexities involved in determining the requisite 
mental element for crimes. Rather, we hope briefly to outline—at the 
risk of over-simplification—some basic concepts of criminal law and to 
place the Dotterweich Doctrine into perspective in our system of criminal 
jurisprudence.

Generally, of course, some element of intent is necessary in order 
to sustain criminal conviction.103 In some situations, only a general
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intent is required. General intent has been defined as showing that a 
person has knowingly committed an act which the law makes a crime, 
from which the required intent may be inferred.101 In other situations, 
a specific intent is necessary. Specific intent requires proof that a 
person knowingly commiited an act which the law forbids, intending 
with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law.105 Certain 
defenses, such as mistake of fact, may be available, and the presump
tion of intent inferred from commission of an act also may be re
butted.106 Generally, persons are not held criminally responsible for 
acts which they did not personally commit or in which they did not 
take part.107

In the case of statutory crimes, as distinguished from those found 
in common law, one looks to the statute to determine the necessary 
mental element required for conviction. The threshold question is 
the intent of Congress. Statutes frequently are silent as to whether 
intent is required and even where words such as “knowingly,” “will
fully,” “feloniously,” and “negligently” are used in the statute, the re
quired menial element still may be unclear. As Francis Bowes Sayre 
says in his excellent article on Mens Rea:
“Even though the statutory requirements for a specific intent are laid down 
for two crimes in the same words, not infrequently the meanings to be a t
tached to the same word formulae differ vastly.”108

Thus, in order more fully to understand the meaning and intent 
of Congress, regardless of which, if any, statutory words are em
ployed, one must look not only to the words of the section of the 
statute at issue, but also to its general framework and purpose, and 
to its legislative history.

Public welfare offenses have been treated in a special way in 
criminal law.109 In his article on Public Welfare Offenses, Sayre broadly 
categorizes public welfare offenses as including sales of intoxicating 
liquors, sales of impure or adulterated food or drugs, sales of mis
branded articles, violations of antinarcotic acts, criminal nuisances, 
violations of traffic and motor vehicle laws, and violations of laws 
involving health, safety, or community well-being.110 Lack of aware
ness of wrongdoing in committing an illegal act has been held to be 
irrelevant for conviction of public welfare offenses since the emphasis 
of the statute is to achieve a social goal rather than to punish a crime. 
The simple doing of the act is sufficient and absolute.111

A major case in point is United States v. Balint,112 where defendants, 
charged with selling narcotics in violation of law, demurred to the
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indictment on the ground that it failed to charge that defendants made 
the prohibited sale knowing it to be illegal. The relevant statute was 
silent on requiring knowledge as an element of the crime. Chief 
Justice Taft, speaking for the Supreme Court, said:
“In the prohibition or punishment of particular acts, the state may, in the 
maintenance of a public policy, provide ‘that he who shall do them, shall do 
them at his peril, and will not be heard to plead in defense good faith or 
ignorance.’ ”113

In describing the “particular acts,” the Chief Justice said:
“Many instances of this are to be found in regulatory measures in the exer
cise of what is called the police power, where the emphasis of the statute is 
evidently upon achievement of some social betterment rather than the punish
ment of the crimes. . . .”114

Amplifying the rationale of not requiring intent, the Court used 
language reminiscent of Dotterweich, saying:
“Its [the statute’s] manifest purpose is to require every person dealing in 
drugs to ascertain at his peril whether that which he sells comes within the 
inhibition of the statute, and, if he sells the inhibited drug in ignorance of 
its character, to penalize him. Congress weighed the possible injustice of sub
jecting an innocent seller to a penalty against the evil of exposing innocent 
purchasers to danger from the drug, and concluded that the latter was the 
result preferably to be avoided.”115

Thus, the Dotterweich Doctrine of imposing absolute criminal li
ability upon persons who had no awareness of wrongdoing in com
mitting a violation of a public welfare statute seems to fall into an 
accepted area of criminal jurisprudence. Sayre sees justification for 
absolute liability only where the offense involves:
“a social injury so direct and widespread and a penalty so light that in excep
tional cases courts could safely override the interest of the individual defen
dants and punish without proof of any guilty intent.”110

He warns against dangerous extensions of the doctrine. To the extent 
that the absolute liability concept of Dotterweich has been applied to 
violations that are merely economic and involve no threat to health, 
and where prison sentences have resulted, the doctrine appears to be 
on the fringes of our criminal jurisprudence.117

Implicit in this discussion has been the concept that the defendant 
personally committed the act which was a violation of law. The other 
portion of the Dotterweich Doctrine—that of vicarious liability—has also 
been treated in the literature. Sayre, in another old, but excellent, 
treatise entitled Criminal Responsibility for Acts of Another states:
“Vicarious liability is a conception repugnant to every instinct of the criminal 
jurist. I t  is not surprising, therefore, that courts today as a general rule . . . 
make criminal liability exclusively dependent upon causation. Causation may
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be proved either (1) by authorization, procurement, incitation or moral en
couragement, or (2) by knowledge plus acquiescence.”118

Sayre notes, in a summary conclusion to his article, that in cer
tain “exceptional groups of cases,” the courts have departed from re
quiring causation as defined above as the basis of criminal liability. 
He defines these “exceptional groups of cases,” where individuals are 
held criminally responsible for acts of another, as follows:

“(a) In public nuisance cases, the owner of the premises has 
been held liable for unauthorized nuisances wrought by servants.

(b) In libel cases, the courts have allowed the authorization 
of the master to be proved . . .  by a rebuttable presumption of law.

(c) In statutory crimes, proof of authorization or consent 
may be dispensed with under the terms of the statute or under 
legal interpretations of its terms.

(d) In the liquor cases, there is hopeless conflict of decisions.”119 
Sayre states his policy conclusion on the issue of criminal respon

sibility for acts of another in these terms:
“In the case of felonies and all serious crimes, criminal law should reject the 
doctrine of re sp o n d e a t s u p e r io r  and rest criminal liability exclusively upon 
causation.
In the case of petty misdemeanors involving no moral delinquency where the 
penalty is no more than a slight fine and public policy so requires, proof of 
actual authorization or knowledge should not be required.”110

Thus, the concepts of absolute and vicarious criminal liability 
as set forth in Dotterweich appear to be “relatively unique,” but not 
without precedent. Perhaps the most unique aspects lie in the appli
cation of the doctrine to economic violations, in applying prison sen
tences, and cases charging felony violations for second convictions.

B. Enforcement Mechanisms in Other Statutes
In this section we will analyze the results of a survey of twenty- 

seven federal statutes which relate to health or safety in order to 
determine the enforcement mechanisms employed by Congress in those 
statutes. This will help shed light on the degree of “uniqueness” of 
the enforcement mechanisms of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act as 
interpreted and will help identify various enforcement alternatives 
which have been enacted by Congress.

A summary of the survey is attached as Appendix I to this paper 
and the results of the survey are reported in more depth in Appendix
II. We have sought briefly to define the basic objective of each stat-
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ute insofar as relevant, the nature of major violations of it, and the 
enforcement mechanism provided, with particular emphasis on criminal 
provisions and whether or not “knowledge” is an essential element 
for criminal conviction. We have also noted the dates of enactment 
?.nd major amendments to the statutes since that may have some bear
ing on trends in Congress in providing enforcement mechanisms. We 
did not delve into legislative history or case law of the various statutes. 
While the survey does not purport to be exhaustive of all federal 
health or safety-related statutes, efforts were made to report major 
legislation of this type.

Before proceeding with the analysis, it will be helpful briefly to 
review the nature of violations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cos
metic Act, and the enforcement mechanism of that Act.

Section 301121 lists the acts prohibited by the statute. Several of 
the prohibited acts refer to the adulteration or misbranding of foods, 
drugs, devices, or cosmetics. The terms adulteration and misbranding, 
with respect to each of these articles, are defined in the statute. In 
total there are over sixty subsections listing one or more acts which 
ultimately are violative of Section 301.122

Acts constituting violation of Section 301 run the gamut. Some 
involve safety-related acts; others relate solely to economic matters, 
and violative acts vary in terms of the risk to public health and safety. 
Prohibited acts include:

—• failure to maintain or permit access to records required by law;
— refusal to permit inspections authorized by law;
— giving false guarantees;
—- counterfeiting;
— divulging information protected under trade secret laws;
—- failure to register a drug manufacturing establishment;
— failure to provide reports as required by law;
— introduction into interstate commerce or receipt in in

terstate commerce of a food or cosmetic which contains 
poisonous substances which may render it injurious to health;

— introduction into interstate commerce or receipt in inter
state commerce of a food, drug, device or cosmetic con
sisting in whole or in part of any filthy, putrid or decom
posed substance, or processed under insanitary conditions;

— introduction into interstate commerce or receipt in inter
state commerce of a food, drug, device, or cosmetic whose
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labeling is false or misleading, whose container is mis
leading, whose label does not contain the name and place 
of business of the manufacturer, packer or distributor, or 
whose quantity is not accurately stated on the label.

There are several enforcement mechanisms set forth in the Act 
in order to secure compliance. In addition to possible criminal pros
ecution of corporations and individuals, injunctive relief may be 
sought in court to restrain violations.123 Seizure and condemnation actions 
(including in some instances multiple seizure actions) also may be 
brought in court against adulterated or misbranded articles.124 Also, 
product recalls have been employed as an enforcement mechanism, 
although there is no express statutory authorization for their use.125 
There are no civil penalties under the Act.

The criminal penalty provisions of the Act are set forth in Section 
303(a) which provides that “any person who violates a provision of 
Section 301 (which lists all of the prohibited acts of the statute] shall 
be imprisoned for not more than one year or fined not more than 
$1,000, or both.”126 “Person” is defined in the Act to include individuals, 
partnerships, corporations, and associations.127 Offenders convicted of a 
second offense and those committing a violation with intent to defraud 
or mislead are subject to felony conviction with a maximum three- 
year prison term, and a $10,000 fine, or both.128

The Act also provides several limited express defenses which 
may be raised to avoid the penalties provided in Section 303(a).129 
And Section 305 provides that “before any violation of this Act is 
reported by the Secretary to any United States attorney for institu
tion of a criminal proceeding, the person against whom such proceed
ing is contemplated shall be given appropriate notice and an opportu
nity to present his views, either orally or in writing, with regard to 
such contemplated proceeding.”130 The Act also provides that the 
Secretary need not report for prosecution minor violations of the Act 
whenever he believes the public interest will be adequately served 
by a suitable written notice or warning.131

One could engender a great deal of discussion in comparing the 
enforcement mechanisms of the statutes surveyed with that of the 
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Such questions as the similarity—or 
lack thereof—in the purposes of the statutes can be raised as well as 
the degree of focus by the Congress on the enforcement mechanism.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.

T he Dotterweich Doctrine P age 35



We will not attempt to be exhaustive in the ensuing discussion, but 
a few observations will be made.

Perhaps the most obvious conclusion is that the enforcement 
mechanisms of the statutes vary widely, both in terms of enforce
ment tools and in severity of sanctions. Some statutes authorize 
seizure, some do not; some authorize injunction, some do not; some 
authorize detention, some do not; some employ criminal sanctions, 
some do not; some employ civil penalties, some do not; and some 
employ both civil and criminal penalties while others do not.

The maximum fines applicable in civil penalty cases range from 
a low of $1,000 to a high of $25,000 for certain violations of the Com
prehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970. In some 
statutes, civil penalty provisions are written so as to make the fine 
apply to each product involved in a violation or for each day of vio
lation, resulting in a civil penalty exposure of $300,000—$500,000 for a 
related series of violations. In most cases, the statutes do not ex
pressly state whether an individual can be personally assessed for acts 
he or another committed, and we have not examined case law or legis
lative history on this point.

The maximum prison terms applicable in criminal cases vary 
from 30 days to over fifteen years, with one year as the most typical. 
The maximum criminal fines vary from $500 to $50,000.

The variety found in enforcement mechanisms and severity of 
sanction is not surprising. While we have not attempted to relate 
“punishment to the crime,” presumably Congress attempted to do so 
in its deliberations on the various statutes. The variety is perhaps 
better explained by the fact that the various statutes were considered 
by different legislators, on different Congressional committees, at dif
ferent times. There simply is no common thread—or at least we have 
not been able to discover one.

With respect to the necessity of the element of “knowledge” re
quired to result in criminal conviction, we were hampered by the 
lack of a study of the case law or legislative history of the statutes 
reviewed. However, of the twenty-seven statutes reviewed (other 
than the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act), twenty-three authorize 
criminal sanctions132 and, of these twenty-three, thirteen expressly 
require “knowledge” or a similar element for criminal conviction by 
their statutory language.133 Ten statutes are silent on the point134 
and, of these, we know of one which has been interpreted in court to
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require knowledge as a necessary element for criminal conviction,135 
and of three which have been interpreted in court not to require 
knowledge.136 Two statutes employ the enforcement mechanism of 
the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act with respect to articles under the 
statute which are regulated under the food and drug law.137 The fact 
that a statute is silent on the issue of “knowledge,” of course, does 
not necessarily mean that “knowledge” is or is not required.

It is also noteworthy that, of the eleven statutes related to food,138 
five required knowledge as a statutory element for conviction,139 six 
are “silent;”140 and of the six “silent” statutes, one has been inter
preted in court to require knowledge as a necessary element for 
criminal conviction,141 and two have been interpreted not to re
quire knowledge.142

With respect to the issue of whether a defendant can be held 
criminally liable for the act of another, six of the twenty-three statutes 
providing criminal sanctions which were reviewed (other than the 
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act) expressly provide some form 
of vicarious liability,143 and sixteen are “silent” on the point.144 Of 
the eleven food-related statutes, three provide a form of vicarious 
liability,145 and eight are “silent.”140 The Federal Coal Mine Health 
and Safety Act contains language which seems to preclude vicarious 
liability.147 Again, the mere fact that a statute is “silent” does not 
necessarily mean that vicarious liability is not possible.

The more recently enacted statutes seem to present a trend to
ward increasing administrative flexibility in the variety of enforce
ment tools available,148 toward an increase in the maximum mone
tary penalties, 149 and toward requiring knowledge as an element in 
individual criminal liability.150 Indeed, several recent statutes contain 
no criminal penalties,151 and several recent statutes require “knowl
edge” for criminal, but not civil, penalties.152 The Drug Abuse Pre
vention and Control Act of 1970 reflects unusual sophistication in the 
approach to penalties and the Consumer Product Safety Act is unique in 
that it provides great flexibility in terms of enforcement tools, in
cluding high civil penalties; but, for criminal conviction, knowledge, 
willfulness and violation of a prior order are necessary.

It is also noteworthy that the severity of enforcement frequently 
varies considerably for offenses which seem to be similar. For ex
ample, knowledge is required by statute for criminal conviction in the 
case of several food-related laws, but not for other food-related laws.
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Also, in the case of violations of the Poison Prevention Packaging Act 
and the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act, penalties vary according to 
the product involved because each of those laws employs the enforce
ment mechanism of the different substantive statutes regulating prod
ucts to which those acts apply.

While the limits of our survey require extreme caution in making 
generalizations, it does appear that the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act 
is at least “relatively unique” in federal law in subjecting defendants 
to absolute and vicarious criminal responsibility for violations.

C .  A b s o lu t e  a n d  V ic a r io u s  C r im in a l  L ia b il ity — P ro s  a n d  C o n s
The intent of Congress in enacting the Federal Food, Drug, and 

Cosmetic Act has been interpreted by the Supreme Court as holding 
individuals absolutely and vicariously criminally liable for adultera
tion and misbranding violations. There are many nuances and dis
tinctions which can be drawn in interpreting the Dotterweich opinion 
and subsequent cases. Our purpose in this section of the paper is 
simply to identify the major pros and cons of the basic concepts of strict 
and vicarious liability in order to help focus the attention of the reader 
on the issue of whether or not those concepts represent sound overall 
public policy.153 We will not attempt to engage in a discussion of the in
numerable subtleties related to the distinctions and nuances in the cases, 
nor will we engage in a discussion of the many alternatives to the present 
concept, as interpreted by the Court, which are available.

The central argument in favor of absolute and vicarious criminal 
liability is based on the theory that the doctrine best protects the public, by 
providing the best possible deterrent to violations of the Act by motivating 
businessmen to seek to attain the highest possible standard of care by 
taking affirmative action and by instituting necessary safe and sound prac
tices to assure that violations do not occur, lest they be branded 
criminals and risk imprisonment. The rationale is that the business
man, who places before the consumer a product which can harm him, 
is in a better position to assure product integrity than is the consum
er, who is helpless. The statute is intended to protect the public rather 
than punish the offender; therefore, his knowledge of a violation is 
irrelevant. The consumer is equally harmed whether or not the 
defendant knew of the violative acts.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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Additional major arguments in favor of the concepts are that they 
help to make the law largely self-executing, thus enabling a small 
enforcement staff more effectively to oversee billions of dollars worth 
of commodities; that they discourage legal “brinksmanship” (encour
age business always to resolve doubts in favor of protecting the pub
lic) ; that other methods of enforcement, such as civil penalties, may 
be viewed as a cost of doing business and will not be as effective in 
protecting the public; that the doctrine has not been abused by the 
government, and that the courts will prevent its abuse, if necessary. 
Also, it is argued, proof of knowledge or willfulness often would be 
difficult since few would intentionally place harmful products on the 
market and knowledge and willfulness are irrelevant to the public 
purpose of the doctrine. Requiring such proof, it is argued, would 
defeat the public protection purpose of the Act.

The central arguments against absolute and vicarious criminal 
liability are that it is unjust and that alternative enforcement mechanisms 
are in the Act or could be placed in the Act by Congressional amend
ment which would be at least as effective in protecting the public. It is 
argued that it is manifestly unjust to hold a man criminally respon
sible for acts which he did not commit, know of, and may not have 
been able to prevent even with a very high standard of care. Other 
statutes of great importance to the health and safety of the public 
are enforced without resort to absolute and vicarious liability, and 
there is no evidence that these statutes are observed by businessmen 
any less than the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Indeed, 
some may argue that a variety of enforcement tools may lead to better 
enforcement than absolute and vicarious criminal liability because courts 
and juries often may not be prone to convict criminally—-or U. S. At
torneys to prosecute—in the absence of some element of wrongdoing, 
and may therefore be inclined to penalize lightly even on conviction.

Additional major arguments against the doctrine are that it is un
just to subject individuals to the possibility of prosecution where, as 
is often the case, the requirements of the Act are not absolutely clear, 
where violations are not related to health or safety, where a felony is 
charged for a second conviction, or where prison terms are imposed. 
It is further argued that, if an individual exercises a reasonable degree 
of care under the circumstances, and did not know of a violation, the 
rationale of deterrence is inapplicable. Thus, the public really is not 
protected in such an instance; rather, an innocent person may be branded 
a criminal. Also, it is argued, the threat of criminal prosecution may

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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be used unfairly as a lever by the government to demand, beyond the 
requirements of the law, that a company take or not take action in 
other matters. The potential for abuse is sufficient to justify elimina
tion of the doctrine. Finally, it is argued that the integrity of criminal 
justice demands extreme care in defining criminal conduct, lest in
nocent individuals be branded criminals, thereby weakening the stigma 
attached to criminal conviction, and thereby impairing its deterrent effect.

Professor Sayre poses the basic policy issue well when he says:
"All criminal law is a compromise between two fundamentally conflicting- interests. 
In the first place, there is the social interest in the general well-being and se
curity. . . .  In the second place, there is the individual interest of the particular 
defendant against the restraint of -his liberty for offenses for which he was not 
morally blameworthy.”154

It would seem that these arguments with respect to absolute and 
vicarious criminal liability, coupled with the effectiveness of alterna
tive enforcement mechanisms, constitute the essential areas of debate; 
and that the continuance, abandonment, or modification of the Dotter- 
weich Doctrine will depend on how these issues are resolved in the future.

V I I I .  S u m m a r y  a n d  C o n c lu s io n
As applied by the courts since 1943, the Dotterweich Doctrine has 

come to mean that “responsible” individuals can be criminally con
victed for violation of the Act. The scope of the doctrine is quite 
broad in the sense of the products and violations to which it applies, 
the potential defendants, and the nature of the punishment imposed.155

While the theory of the decision is quite broad in terms of who 
can be held a “responsible” party, the litigated and reported cases 
involve conviction of individuals in situations only where close and 
immediate supervisory control by the defendant over the operation in 
which the violative act occurred has been present,156 although jury 
instructions have been quite vague.157

The Park case, on the other hand, convicted an individual defendant 
who apparently did not have such a close connection with the opera
tion, although perhaps the defendant had reason to know of condi
tions in the operation where the allegedly violative acts occurred.158

Assuming acceptance of the Dotterweich Doctrine, one can still 
legitimately ask the question, is it fair to hold the president of a large 
corporation, or any defendant, criminally responsible for acts per
formed only under his very general supervision? The “authority and

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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responsibility,” as a practical matter, of someone on the scene differs 
substantially from the theoretical “authority and responsibility” of 
someone not on the scene who carries the title of president and who 
has the “authority and responsibility” for a wide range of activities. 
In the cases examined in this paper, defendants have not been con
victed where they were not in a position of fairly close proximity to 
the specific situation resulting in violative acts. Though many of the 
defendants may not have known of the acts as they occurred, they 
were on the scene or very close to it. This is not to say that a presi
dent of a large concern might not be similarly situated. However, to 
the extent that such an individual could not reasonably have known 
of the violation or conditions which reasonably could lead to viola
tion, perhaps it is not only unfair, but ineffective, to hold him crimi
nally liable.

However, if such a distinction is to be drawn between individuals 
such as Dotterweich who are close to the situation and those like 
Park who may not be, should the legal theory of distinction be 
premised on a finding of “wrongful action” ? Dotterweich is ambiguous 
as to whether or not “wrongful action” (as defined by the Fourth 
Circuit to mean “acts of the accused which cause the adulteration of 
. . . [the] food”) is required for conviction.

Is not a main difference between Dotterweich and Park that the 
former had a direct supervisory role, whereas the latter had an indirect 
role (unless the facts show a more intimate connection with the operation 
where the acts occurred or other reason requiring a prudent man to take 
whatever action would be reasonable under the circumstances) ?

Whether the “responsibility and authority” is direct or indirect 
would appear to be a question of remoteness. But how can one say 
that either “caused” the violative acts? Perhaps a more proper standard 
is that of “reasonableness”—did the defendant know—or should he 
reasonably have known— of conditions in the plant or operation which rea
sonably could result in violative acts—regardless of his title and general 
position and authority in the company?

Alternatively, one could devise a two-pronged jury instruction 
which even more clearly than the above would hold liable anyone 
who was found to be in close proximity to the operation or plant 
where the violation occurred, as well as permit a jury to hold liable 
anyone who, while not personally close to the operation or plant,

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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should reasonably have known of the conditions in the plant or opera
tion which could reasonably result in violative acts. For example, the 
question could be posed to the jury: W as the defendant reasonably close 
to the plant or operation where the violative act occurred or should he 
otherwise reasonably have known of the conditions which reasonably could 
result in violative acts?

The main difference between this latter standard and that first 
suggested is that the former might not allow the attaching of liability 
to defendants similarly situated to the defendants in the litigated cases 
we have examined—all of whom were, in fact, in close proximity to 
the plant or operation. The latter standard would, even more clearly 
than the one first suggested, preserve the elements of vicarious and 
absolute liability, and, at the same time, inject a rule of reason with 
respect to those who are in fact not in close proximity to the plant or 
operation, and who could not reasonably have known of conditions 
in the plant or operation which reasonably could result in violative 
acts. One could argue that this latter instruction, more clearly than 
the first, would reduce the burden on the government to prove rea
sonableness in every case and would reduce the possible burden on the 
government resulting from a situation where defendants, by delegat
ing their authority, would unjustifiably or purposefully attempt to 
insulate themselves from liability. The theory would be that they 
reasonably could not have known of problems in the area that their 
delegate was to manage. Perhaps it could be argued that the affirma
tive duty to find out what is going on, even if one did not know of 
the conditions, is stronger where the officer is in close proximity to a 
single operation or plant than where the officer is in charge of a multi
faceted operation.

Are not both such instructions consistent with the rationale of the 
Dotterweich case to protect the public and place the burden of compli
ance on those who introduce goods into commerce? For how could 
one who could not reasonably know of conditions which could reason
ably result in violative acts do anything to protect the public, at least 
where he was not in close proximity to the hazard? In raising these 
questions, we are mindful of the argument that absolute and vicarious 
liability raises the degree of care and attention to such matters as 
sanitation. But we are also mindful of the fact that we are speaking 
here of underlying criminal liability. The public is not without protec
tion since, under the standards suggested, a president or other senior

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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officer could be convicted, and, in any event, under either standard, 
there will be one or more “responsible” parties. Further, we are mind
ful of the fact that theoretically Dotterweich can be used to prosecute 
a wide range o: offenses and of the fact that large businesses have 
diverse and numerous activities, products, and operations. Is it pos
sible to be informed on all possible violative conditions in such cir
cumstances?

While Dotterweich is somewhat on the fringe of criminal jurispru
dence in subjecting defendants to possible criminal conviction when 
they not only did not know an act was a violation and had no criminal 
intent, but also when they did not commit, authorize or know of the 
act in question, would it not go beyond the pale of justice to apply 
the doctrine (at least where the defendant is not in close proximity 
to the plant or operation) to a defendant who could not reasonably 
have known of conditions which reasonably could result in violative acts ?

Hopefully, the Supreme Court will give further guidance in the 
Park case.

From our limited study of government policies and procedures in 
applying the Dotterweich Doctrine, it appears that FDA generally gives 
warnings before prosecuting individuals and that there are fairly ex
tensive procedures before a decision to prosecute is reached, and our 
limited survey of unreported cases does not raise serious questions of 
abuse of the doctrine.169

While the concepts of absolute and vicarious criminal liability 
appear to be “relatively unique” in criminal jurisprudence, they are not 
without precedent.160 And our study of enforcement mechanisms in 
other statutes shows a wide range of alternatives and points up the 
need for Congress to be more precise in expressing its intent in mat
ters of absolute and vicarious liability.161

The ultimate resolution of policy issues concerning absolute and 
vicarious criminal liability involves a balance between the rights of 
individuals and the need to protect the public. There are few issues 
in law and public policy which are as important as resolving this bal
ance and we hope that this paper has helped to put the issues in con
text insofar as the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act is concerned.

For footnotes to text, see pages 44—49.
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FOOTNOTES TO APPENDIX I

1 This summary is based on information set forth in more detail in Appendix 
II, attached.

2 The item numbers correspond with the numbers in Appendix II.

3 The year enactment of the statute. Where more than one year is noted, the 
additional years noted refer to years in which the statute was significantly amended.

4 Where the term “person” is used, it includes individual, corporation, partner
ship, association, other business unit or similar phraseology—significant exceptions 
are noted.

5 Based on penalties for first offenses related to public health or safety. Both 
criminal penalties can be imposed, unless otherwise indicated.

“Id.

I Recall is a remedy not expressly provided for in the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act. See discussion in text of article at page 35.

8 Either fine or imprisonment, but not both, may be imposed.

9 The Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970 is 
too complex to categorize. See Appendix II for a brief explanation.

10 “Person” also includes states, municipalities, commissions and political 
subdivisions of states and interstate bodies. See 33 U. S. C. § 1362 ('Supp. II, 
1972).

II Each violation of a cease and desist order is subject to a civil penalty 
of $10,000. 12

12 Id.
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APPENDIX II
Personal Criminal Liability 

U nder the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act

T he Dotterweich Doctrine

Survey of Federal H ealth- or Safety-Related S tatu tes

This appendix reports the results of a survey of tw enty-seven 
federal statu tes which relate to health or safety. In  it we have sought 
briefly to define the basic objective of each statu te, the nature of 
m ajor violations of it, and the basic enforcement mechanism provided, 
w ith particu lar em phasis on crim inal provisions and w hether or not 
the concepts of absolute and vicarious liability are statu to rily  provided. 
W e have also noted the dates of enactment and m ajor am endm ents to 
the statutes.

This survey does not purport to be exhaustive of all federal health- 
or safety-related statu tes, bu t efforts were made to report m ajor legis
lation of this type.

I t  should be noted that, in some instances, the language of the 
sta tu te  itself makes it clear tha t knowledge of an act is a necessary 
elem ent for crim inal conviction. In o ther cases, the sta tu te  is silent 
on the question, as is the case in the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. 
W here the sta tu te  is silent, we will note th a t knowledge is not a 
s ta tu to ry  elem ent of a crim inal offense. Obviously, the fact th a t a 
s ta tu te  is silent does not necessarily mean th a t knowledge is not re
quired. W e have not exam ined legislative histories of the statu tes 
surveyed nor have we made an in-depth study of case law arising 
under them. W e have, however, noted relevant cases where they  have 
come to our attention.

Nor have we discussed in depth for each statute the persons who, 
under the sta tu to ry  language, m ay be held liable for a violation of it. 
In  m ost instances the language of the statute provides that any “per
son” who violates a provision can be held liable. M any of the statutes 
expressly define “person,” and those definitions have variously m eant 
any individual, corporation, partnership , association, o ther business 
unit, or o ther sim ilar designations. M any sta tu tes sim ply provide that 
“w hoever” violates the sta tu te  m ay be held liable. Only where the 
sta tu to ry  definition of “person” m aterially differs from either of the 
above, or where a s ta tu te  expressly provides th a t only a particular

For footnotes to Appendix II, see pages 76—78.
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class of person (such as “em ployers” in the Occupational Safety and 
H ealth  Act) m ay violate the statu te , will we note the class of offender.

In reviewing- the statu tes, we will first report those which 
apply to the safety of foods, then drugs, then o ther products. W e will 
then review o ther s ta tu tes designed to pro tect the public or segm ents 
of it from health or safety risks, closing w ith analysis of a few addi
tional s ta tu tes of general interest.

A. Statutes relating to milk and milk products

(1) U nder the Filled Milk A ct,1 enacted in 1923, any form of 
milk or cream, to which has been added any fat or oil o ther than  milk 
fat so as to resu lt in an im itation product, is deemed adulterated, and 
its m anufacture or shipm ent in in terstate  commerce is unlawful. The 
penalty provided for violation is a maximum fine of $1,000 or imprison
m ent for a m aximum of one year, or both. T here is no sta tu to ry  
elem ent of “knowledge,” and the sta tu te  has been in terpreted  as not 
requiring knowledge as an essential elem ent for crim inal conviction 
of an individual defendant.2

T he Filled Milk Act, unlike the Federal Food, D rug, and Cos
metic Act, provides for a form of vicarious liability by expressly pro
viding th a t “the act, omission, or failure of any person acting for or 
employed by any individual, partnership, corporation, or association, 
w ithin the scope of his em ploym ent or office, shall in every case be 
deemed the act, omission, or failure, of such individual, partnership, 
corporation, or association, as well as of such person.”3 I t should be 
noted, of course, th a t this language does not expressly provide tha t 
corporate officers are personally liable for acts com m itted by their 
em ployees; ra ther this language expressly would hold a corporation 
so liable.

The constitutionality of the statute has been questioned on grounds 
not related to  our discussion.4

(2) T he im portation into the U nited S tates of m ilk and cream 
w ithout a perm it issued by FD A  is prohibited by 21 U. S. C. § 141, 
which was enacted in 1927. Inspections are authorized to assure that 
cows are healthy and th a t sanitary  and healthful conditions prevail. 
K now ing violation of the provisions is punished by a fine of not more 
than $2,000 or by im prisonm ent for not more than one year, or both.

For footnotes to Appendix II, see pages 76—78.
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B. Statutes relating to eggs

(1) The E g g  and E gg  P roducts Inspection Act,® enacted in 1970, 
is designed to protect the public health by helping to  assure th a t eggs 
and egg products are wholesome, and properly labeled and packaged. 
T he Secretary of A griculture is authorized to inspect establishm ents 
which use eggs for hum an use and to condemn adulterated  eggs and 
egg products. P roducts in violation of the Act m ay be detained up to 
tw enty  days, and are subject to  seizure and condemnation proceed
ings and to injunction proceedings in court.

V iolations of the Act are punishable by a m aximum fine of $1,000, 
or im prisonm ent for up to one year, or both. Generally, no sta tu to ry  
elem ent of knowledge or in ten t is present, except w ith respect to 
certain acts concerning counterfeit labeling and false statem ents, where 
knowledge is a s ta tu to ry  requirem ent.6 If, however, a violation in 
volves in ten t to defraud, the penalty  is increased to a m axim um  fine 
of $10,000 and three years im prisonm ent, or both. Similarly, if the 
violation involves distribution or attem pted distribution of adulterated 
articles, the penalty  is increased to the level provided for intentional 
fraud, even though there is no sta tu to ry  elem ent of knowledge pro
vided.7 A dulteration is defined to include eggs or egg products (a) 
containing poisonous or deleterious substances rendering the article 
unfit for hum an food, (b) containing unsafe pesticide chemicals, food 
additives, or color additives, (c) packaged under insan itary  condi
tions, (d) subjected to incubation, or (e) subjected to radiation.8 If, 
however, the adulteration consists of substitu tion  or omission of a 
constituent, or concealm ent of dam age or inferiority, or if a sub
stance has been added to  increase the bulk or w eight of the product 
or to  reduce its  quality  or strength , o r make it appear b e tte r than  it 
is, the increased sanctions do not apply.9

The statute contains the same express provision concerning vicarious 
liability as is present in the Filled Milk A ct.10

C. Statutes relating to poultry and meat

(1) T he P ou ltry  and P ou ltry  P roducts Inspection A ct,11 enacted 
in 1957 and m aterially  am ended in 1968, is designed to protect the 
public health by helping to assure th a t poultry  and poultry  products 
are wholesome, and properly labeled and packaged. T he Secretary of 
A griculture is authorized to  inspect establishm ents in which poultry 
is processed and he m ay quarantine and  condemn adulterated  poultry
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and poultry products. P oultry  and poultry  products in violation of the 
A ct m ay be detained up to  tw en ty  days, and are subject to  seizure 
and condem nation proceedings and injunctive proceedings in court.

T reatm ent of the elem ent of knowledge, vicarious liability, and 
violations of the A ct a re  the same as in the E g g  and E gg  Product 
Inspection Act, described above.12

(2) T he M eat Inspection A ct,13 enacted in 1907 and substantially  
am ended in 1967, is also sim ilar to  the egg  and poultry  inspection 
law. I ts  purpose is to pro tect the public health  by helping to assure 
th a t m eat and m eat food products are wholesome, and  properly labeled 
and packaged. T he Secretary of A griculture is authorized to  inspect 
establishm ents in Which m eat is processed and he m ay condemn 
adulterated  m eat and m eat products. M eat and m eat products in 
violation of the A ct m ay be detained up to  tw en ty  days, and are sub
ject to seizure and condem nation proceedings and injunctive proceed
ings in court.

T reatm ent of the  elem ent of knowledge and violations of the Act 
are punishable in the same manner as violations of the egg and poultry 
inspection law described above.14 However, in this case there is no 
sta tu to ry  form of vicarious liability  provided.

I t  is in teresting  to  note th a t knowledge of the  unlawfulness of a 
prohibited act under the M eat Inspection A ct was not held neces
sary in United States v. Hart Motor Express, Inc.15 In th a t case, a 
corporate defendant lost a m otion to  dismiss a  portion of the inform a
tion charging th a t an employee detached an official seal of the Sec
re ta ry  of A griculture. D efendant corporation argued th a t the allega
tion was insufficient in th a t it failed to allege th a t defendant “know 
ingly” detached the seal. N oting the absence of the words “know 
ingly or w rongfully” in the sta tu to ry  language defining detaching an 
official seal as an  unlawful act, and noting  the presence of those words 
in the definition of o ther prohibited acts, the court held th a t scienter 
was not an element in the offense.

(3) T he transporta tion  of diseased and quarantined anim als and 
poultry  is regulated under several different provisions of T itle 21 of 
the U nited S tates Code. Section 115, enacted in 1884, and amended 
in 1926, 1928, and 1962, makes it unlawful for a person to deliver for 
transport or to  tran sp o rt livestock or live poultry  which is affected 
by any contagious disease. V iolation is punished by a m aximum fine

For footnotes to Appendix II, see pages 76—78.
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of $5,000 and one year in prison, or both. K nowledge is a s ta tu to ry  
element of the offense.

The Act m ay be violated by “any person or persons operating” a 
railroad or by any “m aster or ow ner of any boat or vessel,” or by the 
“owner or custodian of or person having control over” the animals.16

(4) Section 122 of T itle 21, enacted in 1903, provides a penalty  of 
no more than $1,000 or one year in prison, or both, for any person 
know ingly to violate Sections 111, 120, 121, or orders or regulations 
issued thereunder. These sections authorize the Secretary to make 
regulations to prevent the dissem ination of contagious diseases of 
anim als and live poultry, and to regulate the exportation and tran s
portation of such animals.

(5) In order to help protect the public from diseased livestock or 
poultry, the Secretary of A griculture is authorized to quarantine such 
anim als, to regulate transporta tion  vehicles as to sanitary  conditions, 
to regulate the movem ent of anim als which m ay be diseased, and to 
inspect carriers of anim als.17 Penalties for know ing violation of a 
regulation are a maximum fine of $1,000 or imprisonment for one year, 
or both. Seizures and injunctions may also be sought. These provi
sions were enacted in 1962.

(6) The transporta tion  of quarantined anim als or live poultry  
is also prohibited by a law enacted in 1905.18 V iolation is punishable 
by a maxim um  fine of $1,000 or one year in prison, or both.19 Though 
there is no sta tu to ry  element of knowledge, a D istric t Court in M is
souri held in 1910 th a t “guilty  knowledge” was required to hold a 
railroad crim inally liable for violation of a governm ent regulation 
issued under the A ct.20

(7) T he im portation of diseased animals, or those which have 
been exposed to  disease w ithin sixty days prior to their export, is 
unlawful under a statute enacted in 1890.21 Penalty  for know ing vio
lation is a m aximum fine of $5,000 or im prisonm ent for th ree years, 
but not both. Transportation vehicles m ay also be forfeited to  the 
governm ent.

(8) T he m anufacture, shipm ent and im port of viruses, serums, 
and toxins intended for use in treatm ent of domestic anim als is p ro 
hibited without a permit issued by the Secretary of A griculture, and 
in accord with his regulations.22 V iolation of this 1913 sta tu te  is 
punishable by a m aximum fine of $1,000 or im prisonm ent for one year, 
or both. No sta tu to ry  elem ent of in ten t or knowledge is present.
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D. Statutes relating to drug abuse control

(1) The Comprehensive D rug  Abuse Prevention and Control Act 
of 197023 establishes a series of classifications for drugs, and other 
substances, based on their potential for abuse, safety, and medical use. 
T he degree of “control,” adm inistered by the A ttorney  General, varies 
according to  the abuse potential and other factors as set forth  in the 
Act, including such controls as production quotas and recordkeeping 
requirem ents for m anufacturers, wholesalers and retailers.

T he penalties prescribed by the A ct are very sophisticated and 
precise, varying according to the classification of the drug, the  offend
er, and the nature of the violation. For example, “know ing or in ten
tional” m anufacture, possession, or distribution in violation of the 
A ct of a controlled substance, in Schedule I or II  (the m ost “con
tro lled” substances), which is a narcotic drug, can resu lt in a m axi
mum penalty of up to fifteen years in prison, and a fine of up to 
$25,000 or both. If the substance is not a narcotic or is in Schedule 
II I , the m axim um  penalty is five years and a fine of $15,000 or both. 
If the substance is in Schedule IV , the m aximum penalty  is three years 
and a fine of $10,(XX) or both. If the substance is in Schedule V , the 
m axim um  penalty  is one year im prisonm ent and a fine of $5,000, or 
both. In  all cases, second convictions double the penalty and special 
parole term  requirem ents are imposed, except in the case of Schedule 
V  substances.24

A ny person eighteen years old or older who “knowingly or in ten
tionally” distributes a controlled substance in violation of the Act, 
to a person under tw enty-one is subject to twice the penalties de
scribed in the previous paragraph. If the offense results in a second 
conviction, the penalties are triple those described in the previous 
paragraph.25

D ispensing a controlled substance to the u ltim ate user in viola
tion of the Act, or dispensing such a substance w ithout labeling re 
quired by the Act, or to manufacture a controlled substance in excess 
of established quotas, inter alia, can result in a civil penalty of up to 
$25,000. If the violation is “know ingly” com m itted, the penalty  be
comes crim inal w ith a m aximum penalty  of one year in prison and a 
fine of $25,000 or both. A second conviction doubles the penalty .26

“K now ing or in ten tional” distribution of a Schedule I or II  
substance (except pursuant to an order as required), or use of a 
fictitious registration num ber, or obtaining a controlled substance by
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m isrepresentation, inter alia, can result in a prison sentence of up to 
four years and a fine of $30,000 or both. Second convictions double 
the penalty.27

“K now ing or in ten tional” possession of a controlled substance in 
violation of the Act can result in imprisonment for not more than  one 
year and a fine of up to $5,000 or both. Second convictions double 
the penalty. In the case of first offenders, the court may place the 
offender on probation w ithout entering a judgm ent of guilty. A t the 
conclusion of probation, offenders under tw enty-one may apply to  the 
court for an order expunging all official records.28

“K now ing or in ten tional” im port or export of a controlled sub
stance, or possession of such aboard a vessel, aircraft or vehicle in 
violation of the Act, or m anufacture or distribution of a Schedule I 
or II  controlled substance, intending or know ing tha t such substance 
unlawfully will be im ported into the U nited States, can result in fifteen 
years im prisonm ent or a $25,000 fine, or both, if the violation is w ith 
respect to a narcotic ¿rug. If the violation is with respect to a non
narcotic drug, the maximum penalty  is five years, c r $15,000, or both. 
T here are provisions for special parole term s as well.29

W hile the above discussion is not exhaustive of the penalties pro
vided for violation of the Act, they are the m ajor ones. O ther penal
ties are provided for conspiracy,30 continuing conspiracy,31 commis
sion of offenses by “dangerous special d rug  offenders,”32 transsh ip
m ent of controlled substances,33 and other miscellaneous m atters. In 
each case where an unlawful act is defined, however, the elem ent of 
knowledge or in ten t is a s ta tu to ry  elem ent of a crim inal offense. 
K nowledge or in ten t is not necessary where a  civil penalty is pre
scribed. T he s ta tu te  is silent as to  vicarious liability.

O ther enforcem ent tools available under the Act include for
feiture of raw  m aterial, controlled substances, transporta tion  vehicles 
and records,34 and injunctions.35 T here is also a provision which 
states “before any violation . . .  is reported . . . for institu tion  of a 
crim inal proceeding, the D irector m ay require th a t the person against 
whom such proceeding is contem plated be given appropriate notice 
and an opportun ity  to  present his views. . . .”36

E. Statutes related to water pollution
(1) T he Federal W ate r Pollution Control Act,37 enacted in 1948 

and substantially  amended in 1972, sets forth a com prehensive pro-
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gram  of legislation designed to restore and m aintain the in tegrity  of 
the nation’s waters. Subchapter I I I 38 sets forth requirem ents for dis
charging pollutants in the nation’s w aters in order to protect w ater 
quality, provide a proper environm ent for fish and wildlife and allow 
for recreational activities. The Environm ental P rotection Agency 
(E P A ) is authorized to issue w ater quality standards, regulate the 
discharge of pollutants and regulate ocean dumping.

Am ong the enforcem ent m echanisms provided for in the A ct are 
civil actions and tem porary and perm anent injunctions.39 Citizen 
suits are also authorized.40 A m aximum civil penalty  of $10,000 per 
day is provided for any person who violates the  A ct41 and crim inal 
penalties for persons “willfully or negligently” violating the A ct are 
provided in the am ount of not less than $2,500 nor more than $25,000 
per day, or im prisonm ent for one year, or both. Any person who 
knowingly makes a false statem ent m ay be fined not more than $10,000 
or six m onths imprisonment, or both.42 For purposes of criminal pros
ecution, “person” is specifically defined to include “any responsible 
corporate officer.”43

F. Statutes relating to air pollution

(1) The Clean Air Act,44 enacted in 1955 and substantially amended 
in 1963, 1965, 1967, and 1970, sets forth comprehensive legislation de
signed to protect the public from hazards associated with polluted air.

There are num erous and com plex requirem ents and procedures 
applicable to both state and private sources of air pollutants. Gen
erally, know ing violation of requirem ents under the Act is punish
able by a fine of not more than $25,000 per day, or by im prisonm ent 
of not more than one year, or both, and a second conviction doubles the 
penalty.45 Also, injunction and other “appropriate relief” is authorized.48

Subchapter II  of the Clean A ir Act sets forth provisions relating 
to air po llu tant em issions.47 This provision authorizes the E nviron
m ental P rotection Agency to issue standards for emission of air pol
lu tan ts by m otor vehicles to protect the public health.

Any person who violates standards issued under Subchapter II 
is subject to a civil penalty of not more than $10,000. In  some cases, 
a violation with respect to each m otor vehicle can constitute a sepa
rate offense.48
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P rivate  citizens are perm itted, under certain  circum stances, to 
in stitu te  civil actions against anyone alleged to  be in violation of emis
sion standards and certain o ther provisions of the Act, as well as 
against the E P A  where a failure to perform  a m andatory du ty  under 
the Act is alleged.49

G. Statutes relating to consumer products

(1‘) T he Consum er P roduct Sa.fety A ct,50 enacted in 1972, has as 
its prim ary purpose the protection of the public against unreasonable 
risks of in jury  associated w ith consum er products. The Act estab
lishes a Consum er P roduct Safety Commission empowered to issue 
uniform  safety standards for consum er products and to ban unreason
ably hazardous consum er products from the marketplace.

T he enforcem ent mechanism of the Act provides for injunction 
and seizure of violative products,51 suits for dam ages by persons in
jured  as a result of violations of product safety rules or regulations 
issued by the Commission,52 suits by private citizens to enforce safety 
rules or Commission orders,53 and retention of private remedies at 
common law  or under S tate s ta tu tes.54 A civil penalty not to exceed 
$2,000 can be assessed against any person who knowingly violates the 
Act, including m anufacturing, offering for sale, or d istribu ting  any 
product not in conform ity w ith an applicable standard  or declared a 
banned hazardous product, or failing to furnish certain  inform ation 
or to comply with certain rules.55 The statute is unusual in th a t it re
quires a knowing violation for a civil penalty. “K now ingly” is expressly 
defined as “ (1) the having of actual knowledge, or (2) the presumed 
having of knowledge deemed to  be possessed by a reasonable m an who 
acts in the circum stances, including knowledge obtainable upon the 
exercise of due care to  ascertain the tru th  of representations.”56 In  
certain  cases, a separate offense is com m itted with respect to  each 
consum er product involved, with a maxim um  penalty  of $500,000 for 
a related series of violations.57

Criminal penalties are assessed aga inst persons who knowingly and 
willfully violate the Act after receiving a notice of noncompliance from 
the Commission. V iolators m ay be fined no t more than  $50,000 or 
im prisoned for not m ore than one year, or both .58 Any individual 
director, officer, or agent of a corporation who knowingly and will
fully violates the A ct and who has knowledge of a  notice of noncom 
pliance received by the corporation is sim ilarly criminally liable.59
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H. Statutes relating to automobile safety

(1) T he N ational Traffic and M otor Vehicle Safety A ct of 196660 
is designed to reduce traffic accidents and deaths and injuries to persons 
resulting therefrom. The Secretary of Transportation is authorized to 
establish m otor vehicle and m otor vehicle equipm ent safety standards. 
I t  is unlawful for any person to m anufacture, sell, or offer for sale sub
standard  vehicles or equipm ent, to refuse access to records, to fail to 
make reports, to fail to provide inform ation or perm it inspection, to 
fail to issue certificates, or to  fail to furnish notice of defects, all as 
required by the A ct.61 V iolation of the above provisions, or of any 
regulation issued thereunder, is subject to a m axim um  civil penalty  
of $1,000 per violation. V iolation w ith respect to  each autom obile or 
item  of equipm ent constitu tes a separate violation, and the maximum 
civil penalty  for any related series of violations is $400,000.62 The 
A ttorney  General also is authorized to seek injunctive relief to re
strain  violations and the Secretary of T ransportation  is required, 
whenever practicable, to notify a person against whom injunctive re
lief is contem plated, and afford him an opportunity  to present his 
views, and, except in a case of know ing and willful violation, afford 
him reasonable opportunity  to achieve com pliance.63

I. Statutes relating to radiation from electronic products

(1) The R adiation Control for H ealth  and Safety A ct,64 enacted 
in 1944 and substantially  amended in 1968, is designed to protect the 
public health and safety from the dangers of electronic product radiation 
through the development and adm inistration of perform ance standards 
issued by the Secretary of H ealth, Education and W elfare to control 
the emission of radiation from the regulated products.

Introduction or delivery of products in violation of standards, 
failure to furnish notification, or to m aintain records, or perm it access 
to records, or to make reports, or to issue certificates all as required 
by the Act, is unlaw ful.65

The enforcem ent mechanism of the  Act gives jurisdiction to the 
district courts of the U nited S tates to restrain  violations of the A ct,66 
and provides civil penalties for violation of not more than  $1,000 
per violation, with a $300,000 limit on any related series of violations.67
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J. Statutes relating generally to hazardous substances

(1) The Econom ic Poison Control A ct,68 enacted in 1947 and 
am ended in 1959, 1964, 1970 and 1972, regulates “economic poisons” 
generally defined as substances intended to destroy various p lan t and 
anim al life.69

The Act is administered by the Environmental P rotection Agency. 
A ny person who distributes, sells, offers for sale, ships, or delivers for 
shipment, an unregistered economic poison is guilty of a misdemeanor and 
may be fined not more than $1,000.70 Any person violating any other 
provision of the Act, including the m isbranding and adulteration sec
tions, is gu ilty  of a m isdem eanor and fined not more than $500 for a 
first offense, and, for subsequent offenses is fined not more than $1,000, 
or im prisoned for not more than  one year, or both, provided th a t an 
offense com m itted m ore than five years after the last conviction is 
considered a first offense.71

T his A ct also expressly provides tha t the act or omission of any 
officer, agent, or o ther person acting for or employed by any person 
shall also be deemed to  be the act or omission of the employer.72 This 
provision is sim ilar to  tha t in the Filled Milk Act and the E gg 
Product Inspection Act.

Seizure is also authorized.73
(2) T he Environm ental Pesticide Control A ct,74 enacted in 1947 

and substan tially  am ended in 1972, is designed to control the use of 
pesticides by  applicators and thereby p ro tect public safety. T he E n
vironm ental P rotection Agency is authorized to register and classify 
pesticides and to control their use.

The enforcem ent mechanism of the A ct provides for “stop sale 
or rem oval” orders issued by the A dm inistrator,75 seizure,76 and civil 
and criminal penalties.77 Any registrant, commercial applicator, whole
saler, dealer, retailer, or o ther d istribu to r who violates any provision 
of the Act m ay be assessed a civil penalty  by the A dm inistrator of 
not more than  $5,000 for each violation.78 P rivate  applicators and 
others who violate the Act after receiving a w ritten  w arn ing  or cita
tion for a prior violation m ay be assessed a civil penalty by  the A d 
m inistrator of not more than $1,000 for each offense.79 Notice and 
opportunity  for hearing are required before assessm ent of civil penal
ties and the A dm inistrator is to  consider, in determ ining the am ount 
of the penalty, the seriousness of the violation, the size of the busi
ness and the effect on its ability  to  continue.80
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Any registrant, commercial applicator, wholesaler, dealer, retailer, or 
o ther d istribu to r who “know ingly” violates any provision of the Act 
is gu ilty  of a misdem eanor and, upon conviction, fined not more than 
$25,000 or im prisoned for not m ore than one year, or both.81 In  the 
case of private applicators or o ther persons, the fine is not to exceed 
$1,000 or im prisonm ent for not more than 30 days, or bo th .82 As with 
the Economic Poison Control Act, the act or omission of any person 
acting for or employed by another is also considered the act of such 
other person.83

(3) T he Federal H azardous Substances A ct,84 enacted in 1960 and 
am ended in 1966, regulates “hazardous” substances in in terstate  
commerce. Generally, these substances include, with specific excep
tions, flammable and toxic substances, and irritan ts, and those which 
may cause “substantial personal injury or substantial illness” as a 
result of foreseeable use. The Consumer Product Safety Commission85 is 
authorized to issue regulations declaring substances hazardous under 
the A ct.86 H azardous substances are required to  m eet certain  label 
requirem ents,87 and in certain  circum stances, products m ay be banned 
from commerce.88

The enforcement mechanism of the Act provides for injunction,89 
seizure,90 and criminal penalties.91 T he Act provides th a t any person 
who commits any of the prohibited acts including the giving of a 
false guaran ty  and the introduction into in tersta te  commerce of any 
m isbranded substance, is gu ilty  of a m isdem eanor and subject to  a 
fine of not more than $500 or im prisonm ent for not more than  90 
days, or both .92 For a second offense or for offenses com m itted with 
in ten t to defraud or mislead, the penalty is a fine of not m ore than 
$3,000 or im prisonm ent for not more than one year, or both .93 There 
are lim ited defenses for receipts or deliveries made in good faith or 
under a guaran ty .94

W hile there is no s ta tu to ry  elem ent of knowledge, a  U. S. D is
tric t Court has in terpreted  the Act as not requiring “knowledge and 
willfulness.”95

(4) The Flam m able Fabrics A ct,96 enacted in 1953 and substan
tially  amended in 1967, seeks to control the m ovem ent in in tersta te  
commerce of w earing apparel or fabric which are so highly flam
mable as to be dangerous. The Consumer Product Safety Commission97 
may issue standards and regulations necessary to that end.
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T he enforcem ent m echanism of the Act provides for injunction 
and condem nation proceedings.98 Any person who “w illfully” m anu
factures or puts into in tersta te  commerce a violative fabric or gives 
a false guaran ty  is gu ilty  of a m isdem eanor and may be fined not 
more than  $5,000 or im prisoned for not more than one year, or both.98 
Any person who know ingly gives a false guaran ty  is gu ilty  of an un
fair m ethod of com petition and unfair or deceptive act or practice 
under the Federal T rade Commission A ct.100

(5) T he Poison Prevention P ackaging A ct of 1970101 authorizes 
the Consumer P roduct Safety Com mission102 to establish standards 
for the special packaging of certain household substances in order to 
pro tect children from serious personal in jury  or serious illness resu lt
ing from handling, using, or ingesting such substances. The Act cov
ers hazardous substances, pesticides, foods, drugs, and cosmetics, as 
well as o ther substances.103 V iolation of a  packaging standard  con
stitu tes a m isbranding violation of the substantive A ct covering the 
substance involved.104 Thus, for example, if a d rug is packaged in 
violation of the Poison Prevention Packaging Act, it is m isbranded 
under the Federal Food, D rug, and Cosmetic Act and the enforce
m ent m echanism s of the la tter Act apply.

Therefore, the identical act can be punished m ere severely in one 
instance than  in another, depending upon which sta tu te  controls. 
If the substance is covered by the Federal H azardous Substances Act, 
the m axim um  crim inal penalty is no m ore than a $500 fine or a ninety- 
day sentence, or both. If the substance is covered by the Food, Drug, 
and Cosmetic Act, crim inal penalties are a m aximum of $1,000 or one 
year, or both. If the Economic Poisons Act is involved, there can be 
no im prisonm ent for a first offense, and the m aximum crim inal fine 
is $1,000.

K. Statutes relating to airplane safety

(1) The Federal Aviation A ct,105 enacted in 1958, deals broadly 
with air transporta tion . Portions of it re late directly to public safety 
through regulation of air traffic control and airplane safety. These 
portions a re  adm inistered by the Federal Aviation A dm inistrator.106 
The A dm inistrator is authorized, inter alia, to  prescribe minimum stan 
dards governing the design, perform ance, and construction of aircraft, 
aircraft engines, and p ropelle rs; to  provide rules for inspection, ser-
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vicing, and overhaul of the aircraft engines, propellers, and appli
ances ; to provide rules for hours of service for em ployees; and to 
provide other rules necessary to provide safety in air commerce.107 
T he A dm inistrator also is authorized, after proper testing, to issue 
certificates to airm en108 and aircraft.109 It is unlawful for any person 
to operate an air carrier in violation of any rule, regulation, or cer
tificate under this subchapter.110

Any person who violates this portion of the Act is subject to a 
civil penalty  not to  exceed $1,000 for each violation.111 If violation is 
a continuing one, each day constitu tes a separate offense.112 If the 
person charged is the owner of, o r in command of, the aircraft in
volved, the aircraft is subject to lien for the penalty.113

T here is no crim inal penalty for violation of these provisions, 
although crim inal penalties are provided for “know ing and w illful” 
violations of some o ther parts of the A ct.114

L. Statutes related to occupational health and safety

(1) The Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970115 authorizes 
the Secretary of L abor to set m andatory occupational safety and 
health standards for businesses affecting in tersta te  commerce. If, 
after inspection or investigation, the Secretary believes an em ployer 
has violated any standard  or requirem ent under the Act, he issues a 
citation to the employer, sets a reasonable tim e for abatem ent of the 
violation, and m ay assess a penalty .116 The em ployer has fifteen days 
to contest the citation and penalty. If  he does not do so, the order is 
final and not subject to review. If the em ployer contests the citation 
or penalty, the Secretary notifies the Occupational Safety and H ealth 
Review Commission established by the A ct.117 The Commission af
fords opportunity  for hearing and issues its findings and order re
garding the citation and penalty. T he Com mission’s order is appeal- 
able to the Court of Appeals.118

Any “em ployer” (defined in the Act as m eaning “a  person en
gaged in a business affecting commerce who has employees. . . ,” ) 119 
who “willfully or repeatedly” violates the A ct or any order or s tan 
dard issued under the A ct may be assessed a civil penalty  of no t more 
than $10,000 for each violation. An em ployer who has received a 
citation for a “serious violation” (defined as one presenting a sub
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stantial probability of death or. serious physical h a rm )120 shall be 
assessed a civil penalty of up to $1,000 for each violation. An em 
ployer who fails to  correct a violation for which a citation has been 
issued w ithin the period perm itted  by a final order for its correction, 
may be fined a civil penalty  of not more than $1,000 for each day dur
ing which such failure or violation continues. An em ployer who 
“willfully” violates an order or standard , and tha t violation causes 
death to any employee, upon conviction shall be fined up to $10,000 
cr six m onths im prisonm ent, or both. The penalty is doubled for 
second convictions. W hoever “know ingly” makes a false statem ent, 
representation, or record can be fined $10,000 and im prisoned for 
six months. Em ployers who fail to post required notices under the 
Act are assessed a civil penalty of up to $1,000 for each violation. There 
is no statutory element of knowledge required for this last violation.121

(2) The Federal Coal Mine H ealth  and Safety Act of 1969122 
authorizes the Secretary of the In terio r and the Secretary of H ealth , 
Education and W elfare to set m andatory health and safety standards 
to protect coal miners.

The Secretary of the In terio r m ay institu te  civil actions for re
lief, including tem porary or perm anent injunctions and restrain ing  
orders for violations. Attorneys appointed by the Secretary may represent 
him, subject to the direction and control of the Attorney General.123

V iolations of the A ct by mine operators can result in a civil 
penalty  assessed by the Secretary of up to $10,000 for each occur
rence of a violation. W hile there is no s ta tu to ry  elem ent of know l
edge, the Secretary is to consider, in assessing a penalty, the opera
to r’s history of violations, the appropriateness of the penalty  to the 
size of the operator’s business, w hether he was negligent, the gravity 
of the violation, and the operator’s good faith in correcting the vio
lation. Civil oenalties m ay be assessed only after the operator is 
given the opportunity  for a public hearing. “W illfu l” violation of a 
m andatory health or safety standard  and “knowing” violation of spec
ified orders is punishable by a m axim um  fine of $25,000 or one year 
im prisonm ent, or both. Second conviction doubles the fine and the 
possible prison term  is extended to five years. K now ing false s ta te 
ments are punishable by a m aximum fine of $10,000 and six m onths 
im prisonment, or both.124
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T he A ct expressly provides th a t “whenever a corporate operator 
violates a m andatory  health or safety standard  or know ingly violates 
or fails” to comply with an order, “any director, officer, or agent of 
such corporation, who knowingly authorized, ordered, or carried out 
such violation, failure, or refusal shall be subject to ” the civil or 
crim inal penalties provided under the A ct.125 This would seem to 
preclude any vicarious liability in the corporate area.

M. Statute relating to fair packaging and labeling

(1) T he F air Packaging and Labeling A ct126 (F P L A ), enacted 
in 1966, is intended to enable consum ers to obtain accurate inform a
tion as to  the quantity  of the contents of packaging and facilitate 
value comparisons.

The A ct regulates labeling by requiring th a t the label bear, inter 
alia, the identity of the commodity, the name and place of business of the 
manufacturer, packer, or distributor, and the net quantity of contents.127

T he Secretary of H ealth , Education and W elfare is authorized 
under the Act to  prom ulgate regulations w ith respect to foods, drugs, 
devices, or cosm etics, while the Federal T rade Commission is au tho
rized to  do so w ith respect to o ther consum er commodities as defined 
in the A ct.128 Packaging and labeling not conform ing to provisions 
of the Act or regulations prom ulgated under it are prohibited.129

Enforcem ent is provided by m eans of a cease and desist order as 
provided under Section 4 5 (b )130 of the Federal T rade Commission 
Act, for consum er commodities o ther than foods, drugs, devices and 
cosm etics.131 Foods, drugs, devices, or cosmetics which are in vio
lation of the Act or a regulation under it are deemed misbranded within 
the m eaning of the Federal Food, D rug, and Cosmetic Act, and are 
subject to seizure and injunction. However, the criminal penalties 
generally available under the Food, D rug, and Cosmetic Act are ex
pressly not available for violation of the F P L A .132 W hether or not a 
food, drug, device, cosmetic, o r o ther consum er com m odity is in
volved, there is no sta tu to ry  elem ent of intent.

N. Statutes relating to fair trade practices

(1) The Federal T rade Commission A ct,133 enacted in 1914, and 
substantially  am ended in 1938 and 1950, creates the Federal T rade
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Commission to regulate industry  practices in order to help prevent 
unfair m ethods of com petition and false advertising.

To this end the Act declares unlawful, unfair m ethods of com
petition in commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in 
commerce.134 W henever the Commission has reason to believe that 
any such m ethods or acts have been used, the Commission issues a 
com plaint and notice and holds a hearing in respect thereof. If the 
Commission is of the opinion tha t the act or practice is prohibited, it 
issues an order requiring the person, partnership, or corporation in
volved to cease and desist from using such m ethod of com petition or 
such act or practice.135 Provision for review of the order in the 
Courts of Appeal in the U nited S tates is provided.136 Any person, 
partnership, or corporation who violates a cease and desist ordei 
after it has become final is subject to a civil penalty  of not more 
than $10,000 for each violation. Each separate violation of such order 
is a separate offense, and in the case of a violation through continuing 
failure or neglect to  obey, each day of continuance of such failure or 
neglect is deemed a separate offense.137

T he Act also provides tha t the dissem ination of false advertis
ing likely to  induce the purchase of food, drugs, devices, or cosmetics 
is unlawful and constitutes an unfair or deceptive act or practice.138 
W hen the Commission believes tha t such advertising is about to 
occur, it m ay seek a  tem porary injunction in a d istrict cou rt.139 A 
crim inal penalty of a fine of not more than $5,000, or im prisonm ent for 
not more than six m onths, or both, can be imposed on any person, 
partnership, or corporation who violates this prohibition against false 
advertising if use of the com m odity advertised m ay be injurious to 
health or if the violation is w ith in ten t to defraud or m islead.140 
Stiffer penalties are provided for second convictions.141 T here is 
no sta tu to ry  elem ent of intent.

Thus, this statu te , which is intended to protect the public more 
from an economic, ra ther than  a health, standpoint, does not rely 
heavily on crim inal enforcement. Only in the area of false advertising 
where there is a th reat to health or a w rongful in ten t are crim inal 
penalties assessed.
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4 Compare Milnot Co. v. Richardson, 3S0 F. Supp. 221 (S. D. 111. 1972) with 

United States v. Carolene Products Co., 304 U. S. 144 (1938) and United States v. 
Carotene Products Co., supra note 2.

5 21 U. S. C. § 1031 (1970).
621 U. S. C. § 1037 (d) (5 )-(7 ) (1970).
7 21 U. S. C. §1041 (a) (1970).
3 21 U. S. C. § 1033 (a) (1970).
8 21 U. S. C. § 1041 (1970).
10 21 U. S. C. §1041 (a) (1970).
1121 U. S .C . §451 (1970).
12 21 U. S. C. §461 (1970).
13 21 U. S. C. §601 (1970).
14 21 U. S. C. §676 (1970).
15 160 F. Supp. 886 (D. Minn. 1958).
1021 U. S. C. § 117 (1970).
1721 U. S. C. § 134a (1970).
18 21 U. S .C . §§ 124, 126 (1970).
18 21 U. S .C . §127 (1970).
20 See United States v. Chicago B. & O. R. Co., 181 Fed. 882 (D. Mo. 1910). 
2121U . S .C . § 104 (1970).
22 21 U. S. C. § 151 (1970).
23 21 U. S. C. §801 (1970).
24 21 U. S. C. §841 (1970).
25 21 U. S. C. §845 (1970).
26 21 U. S. C. §842 (1970).
27 21 U. S. C. §843 (1970).
28 21 U. S. C. §844 (1970).
29 21 U. S. C. §960 (1970).
3021 U. S .C . §§846, 963 (1970).
3121 U. S. C. §848 (1970).
32 21 U. S. C. §849 (1970),
33 21 U. S. C. §§954, 961 (1970).
34 21 U. S. C. §881 (1970).
35 21 U. S. C. §882 (1970).
33 21 U. S. C. §883 (1970).
37 33 U. S. C. § 1251 (Supp. II, 1972).
38 33 U. S. C. § 1311 (Supp. II, 1972).
39 33 U. S. C. § 1319 (b) (Supp. II, 1972).
4833 U. S. C. § 1365 (Supp. II, 1972).
41 33 U. S. C. § 1319 (d) (Supp. II, 1972). Compare 33 U. S. C. § 1415 (a) 

(Supp. II, 1972), which provides a maximum civil penalty of $50,000 for a violation 
of provisions relating to dumping materials in ocean waters.

42 33 U. S. C. § 1319 (c) (Supp. II, 1972). Compare 33 U. S. C. § 1415 (b) 
(Supp. II, 1972), which provides a maximum criminal penalty for “knowing” viola
tion of ocean dumping provisions of up to $50,000 or one year in prison, or both.

43 33 U. S. C. § 1319 (c) (3) (Supp. II, 1972).
44 42 U. S. C. § 1857 (1970).
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45 42 U. S. C. § 1857c-8(c) (1970).
40 42 U. S. C. §1857c-8(b) (1970).
47 42 U. S. C. § 18S7f (1970).
48 42 U. S. C. § 1857f-4 (1970). Compare 42 U. S. C. § 1857f-6c (d) (1970), 

which provides a civil penalty of $10,000 for each day of each violation of fuel provi
sions of the Act.

49 42 U. S. C. § 1857h-2 (1970).
50 IS U. S. C. §2051 (Supp. II, 1972).
5115 U. S. C. §2071 (Supp. II, 1972).
5215 U. S. C. § 2072 (Supp. II, 1972).
5315 U. S. C. § 2073 (Supp. II, 1972).
5415 U. S. C. § 2074 (Supp. II, 1972).
5515 U. S. C. § 2069 (Supp. II, 1972).
5615 U. S. C. § 2069(c) (Supp. II, 1972).
57 IS U. S. C. § 2069(a) (Supp. II, 1972).
5815 U. S. C. § 2070(a) (Supp. II, 1972).
5915 U. S. C. § 2070(b) (Supp. II, 1972).
6015 U. S. C. § 1381 (1970).
8115 U. S. C. § 1397 (1970).
6215 U. S. C. § 1398 (1970).
8315 U. S. C. § 1399 (1970).
84 42 U. S. C. §263b (1970).
65 42 U. S. C. §263j (1970).
08 42 U. S .C . § 263k (a) (1970).
87 42 U. S. C. §263k (b) (1) (1970).
88 7 U . S. C. § 135 (1970).
89 7 U. S. C. § 135 (a ) (1970).
70 7 U. S. C. § 135 f (a ) (1970).
71 7 U. S. C. § 135 f (b ) (1970).
72 7 U. S. C. § 135 f (d ) (1970).
73 7 U. S. C. § 135 g (1970).
74 7 U. S. C. § 136 (Supp. II, 1972).
75 7 U. S. C. § 136 k (a ) (Supp. II, 1972).
78 7 U. S. C. § 136 k (b) (Supp. II, 1972).
77 7 U. S. C. § 136 1 (Supp. II, 1972).
78 7 U. S. C. § 136 1 (a ) (1) (Supp. II, 1972).
79 7 U. S. C. § 136 1 (a )  (2) (Supp. II, 1972).
80 7 U. S. C. §1361 (a ) (3) (Supp. II, 1972).
81 7 U. S. C. § 136 1 (b ) (1) (Supp. II, 1972).
82 7 U. S. C. § 136 1 (b) (2) (Supp. II, 1972).
88 7 U. S. C. § 136 1 (b) (4) (Supp. II, 1972).
8415 U. S. C. § 1261 (1970).
8515 U. S. C. § 2079 (a ) (Supp. II, 1972).
8615 U. S. C. §1262 (1970).
8715 U. S. C. § 1261 (p ) (1970).
8815 U. S .C . §1261 (q) (1970).
8915 U. S. C. § 1267 (1970).
9015 U. S. C. § 1265 (1970).
9115 U. S. C. § 1264 (1970).
9215 U. S. C. § 1264 (a ) (1970).
98I d .
9415U . S. C. § 1264 (b) (1970).
95 See U nited , S t a t e s  v. Chalairc, 316 Fed. Supp. 543, 548 (E . D. Louisiana 1970).
9615 U. S. C. § 1191 (1970).
9715 U. S. C. § 2079 (b) (Supp. II, 1972).
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9815 U. S. C. § 1195 (1970).
8915 U. S. C. § 1196 (1970).
10015 U. S. C. §1197 (b) (1970).
10115 U. S. C. § 1471 (1970).
10215 U. S. C. § 2079 (Supp. II, 1972).
10315 U. S. C. §§ 1471, 1472 (1970).
104 See 15 U. S. C. § 1261 (p) (1970) ; 7 U. S. C. § 135 (z ) ( i)  (1970) ; 21 

U. S. C. §§ 343 (n), 352 (p ), 362 (f) (1970).
195 49 U. S. C. § 1301 (1970).
100 49 U. S. C. § 1655 (c) (1970).
197 49 U. S. C. § 1421 (1970).
108 49 U. S. C. § 1422 (1970).
109 49 U. S. C. § 1423 (1970).
110 49 U . S. C. § 1430 (1970).
11149 U. S. C. §1471 (1970).
112 Id.
113 Id.
114 See 49 U. S. C. § 1472 (1970).
115 29 U. S. C. §651 (Sup. 1974).
110 29 U . S. C. §§ 658, 659 (Sup. 1974).
117 29 U. S. C. § 659 (Sup. 1974).
118 29 U. S. C. § 660 (Sup. 1974).
119 29 U. S. C. §652(5) (Sup. 1974).
120 29 U . S. C. § 666(j) (Sup. 1974).
121 29 U. S. C. §666 (Sup. 1974).
122 30 U. S. C. §801 (1970).
123 30 U. S. C. §818 (1970).
124 30 U. S. C. §819 (1970).
125 30 U. S. C. §819 (c) (1970).
12615 U. S. C. § 1451 (1970).
12715 U. S. C. § 1453 (1970).
12815 U. S. C. § 1454 (1970).
12915 U. S. C. § 1452 (1970).
13015 U. S. C. § 45(b) (1970).
13115 U. S. C. § 1456 (b) (1970).
13215 U. S. C. § 1456 (a ) (1970).
133 15 U. S. C. §41 (1970).
13415 U. S. C. §45 (1970).
13515 U. S. C. §45 (b ) (1970).
13015 U. S. C. §45 (c) (1970).
13715 U. S. C. § 45 (1) (Sup. 1974).
13815 U. S. C. §52 (1970).
13915 U. S. C. §53 (1970).
14015 U. S. C. §54 (a) (1970).
141 Id.

[The End]
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Now Ready , . .

For Preparing 1974 Tax Returns

1975 U.S. MASTER TAX GUIDE
When you need fast, accurate answers to puzzling tax problems, you’ll 

welcome this timely new 58th edition. Reflecting major and pertinent federal 
tax changes that affect 1974 returns, the GUIDE explains the basic rules 
concerning personal and business income tax.

Presenting a clear picture of current income taxes, the GUIDE offers 
clear-cut examples based on typical tax situations to show you how to 
handle special problems, protect against overpayments and mistakes. Ref
erences to the Internal Revenue Code, the Regulations and the CCH Standard 
Federal Tax Reporter are included.

Special features are rate tables, tax calendar, state sales and gasoline 
tax deduction guides and check lists of taxable and nontaxable items, 
deductible and nondeductible items and depreciation tables. 544 pages, 
5/s" x 9", detailed topical index, heavy paper covers.

Order Your Copies Today!
The 1975 U. S. MASTER TAX GUIDE brings you top-flight tax help 

you’re sure to welcome.

To order your copies now for prompt 
delivery, write Commerce Clearing House,
Inc., 4020 W. Glenlake Ave., Chicago,
111. 60646. Ask for 1975 U. S. Master Tax 
Guide (5955) at the following prices; 1-4 
copies, $7 ea.; 5-9, $6.50 ea.; 10-24, $5.90 ea.;
25-49, $5 ea. (To save postage, handling and 
billing charges, you may elect to send re
mittance with order. Include sales tax 
where required.) Pub. November 1974.
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copies or th e  hard  bound e d itio n .)  (198K /124)

HARD BOUND EDITION
The 1975 U. S. MASTER  
TAX G UIDE is also avail
able in a handsome, hard 
bound permanent edition 
(5885). Contents are identical 
to the paper-covered edition, 
but hard bound (two color, 
gold-stamped covers) for per
manent reference. Pub. De
cember 1974.
Price, $11 a copy. < a



OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH STANDARDS FOR:

GENERAL
INDUSTRY

Here is a “ must" volume for manufac
turers, safety consultants, associations, 
engineering firms, insurers and the like. 
This new OSHA title contains standards 
issued by the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration that are applicable 
to general industry. All amendments is
sued by the Administration through June 
3, 1974 are helpfully included. Contains a 
handy subject matter index prepared by 
OSHA. For convenience in locating stand
ards, appropriate section numbers appear 
at the bottom of each page. In all, 6" x 9” , 
heavy paper covers, 336 pages. Ask for 
Occupational Safety and Health Standards 
for General Industry (4885) at the follow
ing prices: 1 to 4 copies, $4.00 ea.; 5-9, 
$3.70 ea.; 10-24, $3.40 ea.; 25-49, $3.20 
ea. (Pub. August 1974)

THE CONSTRUCTION 
INDUSTRY

This book reprints the official standards 
issued by the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration applicable to the 
construction industry — through June 3, 
1974. Helpfully included are standards 
regulating fire protection equipment, stor
age, tools, ladders, cranes, motor vehicles, 
concrete, demolition, etc. Includes an 
OSHA-prepared subject matter index. A 
great help for architectural firms, engi
neering groups, steel companies, building 
trade associations and unions, service 
contractors and the like. In all, 6”  x 9” , 
heavy paper covers, 104 pages. Ask for 
Occupational Safety and Health Standards 
for the Construction Industry (4884) at the 
following prices: 1 to 4 copies, $2.00 ea.; 
5-9, $1.80 ea.; 10-24, $1.70 ea.; 25-49, 
$1.50 ea. (Pub. August 1974)

ORDER YOUR COPIES TODAY!

To receive your copies of these helpful OSHA titles, just write Commerce Clearing House, Inc., 
4020 W. Glenlake Ave., Chicago, III. 60646. Please include the title of the publication and the book 
code number. To save postage, handling and billing charges, you may elect to send remittance with 
order. Include sales tax where required.
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Keep Your
FOOD DRUG COSMETIC LAW

JOURNAL on Lile . . .

Have a W ealth of Information 
at Your Fingertips

I t ’s important to be able to find an article when 
you want it . . . when you need it quickly.

T h a t ’s why it’s a good idea to keep your copies 
of the JO U R N A L  in a handy CCH Binder—designed 
especially to hold the issues securely and in place.

T h ere ’s plenty of room—each binder holds twelve numbers. Any 
copy may be inserted or removed easily, smoothly. I t ’s just what 
every JO U R N A L  user needs for fast, convenient reference.

Made of handsome, durable black Fabrikoid—gold stamped— the 
Binder is sturdy, long-lasting, blends with today’s office equipment, is 
at home on your library shelf.

T here’s a window label showing contents by year—to make sure 
you get what you reach for.

H ere’s your opportunity to build your own “treasure house’’ of 
usable food, drug, cosmetic law information.

Just fill in and mail the convenient Order Card attached. W e ’ll 
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